
SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY 

Monthly Meeting Agenda 

4424 Laporte Avenue 
Fort Collins, CO  80521 

 

Thursday June 8, 2023 
 

Mission – The Authority delivers the highest quality treated water to its customers with financial 
responsibility, and following policies established by the Board in a professional, efficient, and ethical 

manner. 

 
 

 
 

1. Call to Order 10:00 AM 
 

2. Meeting Minutes for May 11, 2023 - Action Item – Approve Minutes - “Motion to 
approve the minutes from the meeting on May 11th, 2023”. 

 
3. Financial Update – Brenda Griffith, Action Item - Approve Financial Report  - 

“Motion to approve the SCWTA April 2023 Financial Report”. 
 

4. Manager’s Update – Jacob Stephani. 
 

a. Update on proposed Horsetooth Auxiliary Outlet (see PowerPoint) 
 

5. Backup Generator project – Status Update – Jacob Stephani 
 

6. 2022 Financial Audit results from Baker Tilly- Brenda Griffith and Jessica Gonifas. 
 

7. Review of proposed Authority Creation Agreement additions to include new physical 
facilities – Mark Kempton  – Include new 42” HT pipeline, PVP Sedimentation Basin 
and Screen, PVP Pipeline and additional pipe agreements.  

 
8. Other Business 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    

 

The next scheduled Authority Board Meeting is July 13, 2023, at 10:00 a.m. 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 

 Board Meeting  

May 11, 2023 

 

Present at the meeting: 

Board Chairman, Eric Reckentine, NWCWD Manager 

Board Vice Chairman, Chris Pletcher, FCLWD Manager 

Board Treasurer, Mike Scheid, ELCO Manager 

Board Director, Jim Borland, FCLWD Director 

Board Director, Rod Rice, ELCO Director 

Mark Kempton, SCWTA Manager 

Richard Raines, SCWTA Water Resources Manager 

 

The meeting was called to order at 10:07 a.m. by Board Chairman Eric Reckentine.  

Business Conducted 

1. Minutes from April 13, 2023, Soldier Canyon Water Authority Board Meetings 

Minutes from the April 13, 2023, meeting were presented. Mike Scheid made a motion to approve 

the minutes.  Chris Pletcher seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

2. Financial Update 

Mark Kempton presented and reviewed with the Authority Board monthly billing records, a review 

of the March 2023 O&M expenses and the financial dashboard. A question was posed if the Board 

wished to see more detail on credit card purchases. The Board agreed that those purchases are 

reviewed monthly by the Manager and also during the annual independent financial audit, so no 

monthly Board review was necessary. Chris Pletcher made a motion to approve the financial 

reports.  Rod Rice seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

3. Managers Update 

Mark Kempton updated the Board on plant flows and water quality, operations, and maintenance, 

PVP and River flows, and projects going on in the plant and at the PVP. 

 

4. Approval of the Munroe Ditch Water Loss Study by Ayres Associates – Richard Raines 

The Board was given a copy of the Proposal from Ayres Associates for a continuation of a Water 

Loss Study on the Munroe Canal near the PVP.  Rod Rice made a motion to approve the 

Proposal.  Jim Borland seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously approved.  

 

5. Approval of Materials Procurement from Leopold for Filters 5-8 – Mark Kempton 

The Board was given a copy of the Proposal from Leopold to acquire filter media, underdrains, and 

piping for the Filters 5-8 Rehabilitation Project.  Rod Rice made a motion to approve the Proposal.  

Jim Borland seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously approved.  



Authority Board Minutes 

May 11, 2023 

Page 2  

 

 

6. Discussion item – Mark Kempton – Stantec Draft Expansion Capacity Feasibility Study – 

Mark Kempton posed a question to the Board if they wished to follow up on any of the study’s 

recommendations for expanding Plant capacity or need more time to consider? The Board wished 

to proceed with a scope and budget request from Stantec to further investigate and get to CDPHE 

approval of rating the Plant to 67 MGD or possibly to 72 MGD. Rod Rice made a motion to 

approve the Proposal.  Chris Pletcher seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously 

approved.  

 

7. Review of proposed Authority Creation Agreement additions to include new physical 

facilities – Mark Kempton – Include new 42” HT Pipeline, PVP Sedimentation Basin and 

Screen, PVP Pipeline 

Mark Kempton shared updated tables detailing existing and proposed percent ownerships in the 

Pleasant Valley Pipeline and the Horsetooth Line.  These percent ownerships are part of a 

proposed future amendment to the Authority Creation Agreement to include ownership of the PVP 

Sed Basin and Screen.  The Districts will continue to search their records to locate agreements or 

financial data that are needed to finalize the Creation Agreement Amendments. 

 

8. Other Business 

An email from Brian Hood at CSU regarding possible land purchase was distributed to the Board 

via email  on 5/9/2023. The email is included as part of these minutes. A discission on this topic 

resulted in deciding to wait for the completion of the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 

Master Plan to follow up on a request to purchase more land to the north from CSU. 

 

Mark Kempton asked Mike Scheid and Eric Reckentine if they wished to keep individual chlorine 

dosing equipment in places for their respective districts as part of a planned rehabilitation of the 

Plant’s chlorine feed system. They both said yes, they would prefer the chlorine systems to be 

kept in place. 

 

9. Adjournment 

Mike Scheid made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Chris Pletcher seconded the motion. 

The motion was unanimously approved, and the meeting was adjourned at 10:41 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Authority Board Minutes 

May 11, 2023 

Page 3  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Mark Kempton – Board Secretary, Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 

 

 

Approved by Authority Board 

 

 

 

Eric Reckentine - Board Chairman, Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 

 

 

 

Attachment: CSU Land Purchase email from 5/9/23 



From: Mark Kempton
To: cpletcher@fclwd.com; ericr@nwcwd.org; Jim Borland (jim@jimborland.com); mikes@elcowater.org; Rodney

Rice; Scott Cockroft
Subject: FW: CPW Foothills
Date: Tuesday, May 9, 2023 9:54:00 AM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image004.png

Hello all,
 
Please see below in yellow for an update from Brain Hood with CSU on the CSU owned/CPW
leased land to the north of the Plant.
 
We can discuss more on Thursday if you wish.
 
Mark
 
 
Mark Kempton, P.E, CWP
Manager, Soldier Canyon Water
Treatment Authority
4424 LaPorte Ave.
Fort Collins, CO 80521
O: (970) 482-3143 | C: (970) 286-9533
mkempton@soldiercanyon.com
 

From: Hood,Brian <Brian.Hood@colostate.edu> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 9, 2023 9:47 AM
To: Mark Kempton <mkempton@soldiercanyon.com>
Subject: FW: CPW Foothills
 
Mark,

Here is some of the latest information regarding the CSU land north of you. I would be happy to
discuss it further with you. Are we still on for a site visit tomorrow? If so, where do we meet you?
 
Thanks,
 

 

From: Hansen,David <David.Hansen@colostate.edu> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 9, 2023 8:37 AM

mailto:mkempton@soldiercanyon.com
mailto:cpletcher@fclwd.com
mailto:ericr@nwcwd.org
mailto:jim@jimborland.com
mailto:mikes@elcowater.org
mailto:rsrice419@gmail.com
mailto:rsrice419@gmail.com
mailto:scottc@nwcwd.org
mailto:mkempton@soldiercanyon.com
mailto:David.Hansen@colostate.edu


To: Hood,Brian <Brian.Hood@colostate.edu>
Cc: Duttgupta,Gargi <Gargi.Duttgupta@colostate.edu>
Subject: RE: CPW Foothills
 
Brian,
We are not at a point to approach CPW about their lease and anticipate we are at least 18-24
months from any action regarding it.    CPW is fully aware that their ground is in the path of Soldier
Canyon’s expansion and are actively working to determine their future needs.   I believe two things
need to transpire before there are any conversations:

1. Kickoff of Soldier Canyon site planning which will inform how much ground they actually are
going to need to occupy as it may be less than their master plan represents.

2. CPW will be initiating a feasibility study on their ground east of Wellington in the next fiscal
year, this will determine their next steps.    They have suggested to Gargi and I that they may
want to keep their operations side of the house (+/-15 Ac.) at the Foothills Campus and/or as
much ground as we are able to maintain after Soldier Canyon advances their plans.  

 
Two  additional actions were also identified for STRATA and FM to consider that might assist CPW
should their feasibility study result in an unacceptable location east of Wellington.

1. It was suggested in our last monthly STRATA meeting that you would look to see if the
Maxwell Ranch might be a viable option to provide some ground to CPW.  

2. It was also suggested that FM might approach the city Natural Areas leadership team to see if
there is an option that would allow them to occupy some ground immediately north of their
current lease, this conversation has not occurred.  CPW represented that their leadership
team had already had a conversation with the city to this regard and were told no. 

 
All of this said, we are in a holding pattern for the time being.  
Thanks,
 
David Hansen (he/him)
University Landscape Architect
Colorado State University Facilities Management
p: 970.567.0031
 
 
 

From: Hood,Brian <Brian.Hood@colostate.edu> 
Sent: Monday, May 8, 2023 4:46 PM
To: Hansen,David <David.Hansen@colostate.edu>
Subject: CPW Foothills
 
David,
 
As I understand it, CSU has determined that they will not be renewing the CPW lease at Foothills, is
that correct? If so, I need to get something in writing before I send a formal letter to CPW notifying
them their lease will expire in nine years or so.
 

mailto:Brian.Hood@colostate.edu
mailto:Gargi.Duttgupta@colostate.edu
mailto:Brian.Hood@colostate.edu
mailto:David.Hansen@colostate.edu


Thanks,
 

 

Brian Hood
Senior Real Estate Specialist
Office | 970.491.6673

csustrata.org 
 
 

https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcsustrata.org%2F&data=05%7C01%7Cmkempton%40soldiercanyon.com%7C0758e9f0d0f84550842a08db50a49d38%7Cafada7aeb8924bad97358ce0939eae87%7C0%7C0%7C638192440188206581%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=wDAMBPfE%2FEQDJrCVJZEgz9g%2BUpXy7EZspSsitl7V308%3D&reserved=0


 11:53 AM

 06/01/23

 Accrual Basis

 Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

 Custom Transaction Detail Report
 May 2023

Date Num Name Memo Amount

May 23

05/01/2023 Auto pay Silver Peaks Accounting May A/P - Monthly Fee -750.00

05/10/2023 6005 4Rivers Equipment Apr. A/P - Tractor repair/service -4,141.87

05/10/2023 6006 A-Z Safety Supply Apr. A/P - First Aid Sup./Safety -874.92

05/10/2023 6007 A.R.C. Incorporated Apr. A/P - Cleaning Services -300.00

05/10/2023 6008 A1 Organics Apr. A/P - Sludge -12,471.60

05/10/2023 6009 Airgas Apr. A/P - Breathing Air -64.23

05/10/2023 6010 American Datapath Apr. A/P - Fiber work -1,095.00

05/10/2023 Auto pay American Heritage Life Ins. Co. Apr. A/P - Voluntary Ins. -179.21

05/10/2023 6011 Capital Business Systems Apr. A/P - Lab Copier, shop printer -28.74

05/10/2023 6012 CEBT Apr. A/P - May Ins. -25,118.05

05/10/2023 6013 CenturyLink2 Apr. A/P - Phones -66.03

05/10/2023 6014 Chemtrade Chemicals US LLC Apr. A/P - Alum -6,886.34

05/10/2023 6015 Colo Dept of Labor Apr. A/P - Annual Boiler Inspection -90.00

05/10/2023 6016 Ditesco R & R - Filters 1-4 & 5-8 -7,504.98

05/10/2023 6017 DPC Industries, Inc. Apr. A/P - chlorine -8,573.60

05/10/2023 6018 FEDEX Shipping -29.74

05/10/2023 6019 Ferguson Apr. A/P - maint. sup -88.55

05/10/2023 6020 Frank Parts Company Apr. A/P - Maint. Sup. -19.04

05/10/2023 6021 Grainger Apr. A/P - Maint. Sup. -2,792.72

05/10/2023 6022 Greystone Technology IT Mgmt, email, backups -3,071.10

05/10/2023 6023 HACH Company Apr. A/P - Lab Sup. -5,286.74

05/10/2023 6024 Harcros Chemicals Inc Soda Ash -18,323.42

05/10/2023 6025 Hillyard - Denver Apr. A/P - Janitorial Sup. -643.63

05/10/2023 Pd online Home Depot Apr. A/P - maint. supplies -2,249.81

05/10/2023 6026 Jax Inc. Mercantile Company Apr. A/P - Uniforms, Maint. Sup. -277.05

05/10/2023 6027 Laporte Hardware Apr. A/P - Maint. Sup. -233.91

05/10/2023 6028 Larimer County Solid Waste Mgmt Apr. A/P - Plant clean up -284.90

05/10/2023 6029 Logical Systems, LLC R & R - PVP Control Imp, PLC Upgrade -54,855.00

05/10/2023 6030 Mallory Safety & Supply LLC Apr. A/P - Safety -742.86

05/10/2023 6031 Matsuda Enterprises Apr A/P - sludge hauling -8,520.00

 Page 1 of 3



 11:53 AM

 06/01/23

 Accrual Basis

 Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

 Custom Transaction Detail Report
 May 2023

Date Num Name Memo Amount

05/10/2023 6032 Municipal Treatment Equipment, Inc. Grunfos pump, maint. Sup. -8,153.96

05/10/2023 6033 Norit Americas Inc. Apr. A/P - PAC -10,226.00

05/10/2023 6034 ONEPOINTSYNC Apr. A/P - Phones -220.55

05/10/2023 Pd online Phillips 66 CO/SYNCB Apr. - Fuel -239.26

05/10/2023 6035 PT Hose & Bearing Apr. A/P - Maint. Sup. -145.09

05/10/2023 6036 Ryan Herco Maint. Sup. -262.47

05/10/2023 6037 Sam's Club Apr. A/P - Misc Admin/Ops Sup., TVs for control room -1,201.95

05/10/2023 6038 SGS North America, Inc. Apr. A/P - Samples -130.98

05/10/2023 Pd online Shell Apr. A/P - Fuel -725.52

05/10/2023 6039 Special District Association Apr. A/P - Leadership Academy J. Stephani -225.00

05/10/2023 6040 Ted D. Miller Associates Inc. Apr. A/P - Lab Sup -2,641.75

05/10/2023 6041 US Bank Mar. A/P - Copier Lease -642.75

05/10/2023 6042 US Standard Products Apr. A/P - Safety Sup, Shop Sup. -565.07

05/10/2023 6043 USALCO Apr. A/P - CC 2000 -9,554.50

05/10/2023 6044 Veolia Analytical Instruments Apr. A/P - Lab Sup -651.60

05/10/2023 6045 Verizon Wireless Apr. A/P - Cell phones -503.20

05/10/2023 6046 Wal-Mart Misc. sup. -36.77

05/10/2023 Auto pay Waste Management of No. Colo Apr. A/P - Trash/Recycling -650.22

05/10/2023 6047 Western States Fire Protection Apr. A/P - Annual Fire Sprinkler Inspection -810.00

05/10/2023 Pd online Xcel Energy Apr. A/P - Electric & Gas -4,432.42

05/10/2023 6048 Larimer County Canal NO. 2 Irrigating Co.Apr. A/P - Overland Ponds Modifications -5,450.00

05/10/2023 6049 Lyons Gaddis Attorneys & Counselors Apr. A/P - General -1,373.23

05/15/2023 6050 First National Bank Apr.  A/P - Education, Misc., Safety, Maint. -977.50

05/15/2023 6051 First National Bank Omaha Apr. A/P - Misc., Office Sup. -84.40

05/15/2023 6052 Stantec Consulting, Inc. Apr. A/P - Expansion Feasibility Study -4,884.00

05/15/2023 6053 First National Bank Apr.  A/P - Education, Off. Sup., Maint., Uniforms -658.75

05/16/2023 Auto pay BASIC Benefits HRA Accts. Monthly fee -50.00

05/18/2023 6059 Ditesco R & R - Filters 5-8 Improvements -4,465.45

05/18/2023 6060 Logical Systems, LLC R&R-PVP Control Imp, PLC Upgrade, Filters 5-8 -26,006.91

05/18/2023 6061 Restruction Apr. A/P - Crack injection on front of Plant -27,978.75

05/22/2023 6063 Petty Cash May  A/P - Board Mtgs., Shop Sup. -214.36

 Page 2 of 3



 11:53 AM

 06/01/23

 Accrual Basis

 Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

 Custom Transaction Detail Report
 May 2023

Date Num Name Memo Amount

05/22/2023 6065 Goltz Asphalt Company Apr. A/P - Crack seal driveway -27,394.43

05/23/2023 6066 Harcros Chemicals Inc Apr. A/P - Soda Ash -10,208.70

05/25/2023 Pd online Xcel Energy Apr. A/P - Electric & Gas -5,888.65

May 23 -323,217.23

Plant expenses that aren't normal monthly expenses

Chemicals

Renewal & Replacement

Water Resources

 Page 3 of 3



Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 YTD Total Budget % To Budget

Revenue Total 968,282        463,025        464,463        971,141        -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                    -                     2,866,911     8,154,204     35.16%

Fixed O&M Revenue Total 400,936        400,936        400,936        400,936        1,603,744     4,811,235     33.33%

Variable  O&M Revenue Total 61,794          55,287          58,635          64,235          239,951        1,338,719     17.92%

Renewal and Replacement  Revenue Total 500,999        -                     -                     500,999        1,001,998     2,004,000     50.00%

Misc./Interest Income 4,553.00 6,802.00 4,892.27 4,971            21,218          250 84.87308

Expenses Total 676,279        418,830        501,775        533,725        -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                    -                     2,130,609     7,850,549     27.14%

Fixed O&M Expenses 556,678        379,324        384,955        366,799        1,687,756     4,811,235     35.08%

Variable O&M Expenses 119,601        25,161          95,753          74,094          314,609        1,035,314     30.39%

Energy Expenses 17,248          17,447          14,084          10,321          59,100          105,969        55.77%

Chemical Expenses 102,353        7,714            81,669          63,773          255,509        1,232,750     20.73%

Renewal and Replacement Expenses -                     14,345          21,067          92,832          128,244        2,004,000     6.40%

Reserves

Emergency Reserve Fund Balance end of April 1,606,731     2,027,202    

Minimum Emergency Reserve Target 1,537,489     500,000        

+/- Target 69,242          1,527,202    

Months

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

Renewal and Replacement Fund Balance

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

O&M Fund Balance



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
 

1 
 

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Board Meeting – 
Plant Manager’s Update 

 
Thursday, June 8, 2023 

 
• River turbidities continue to be periodically very high, in excess of 100 

ntu. We bring the Plant on when we can, but we are forced off the river 

occasionally with high turbidities. 

• Coordinated with Stantec on expanding the Plant rating to 67 or 72 MGD. 

Stantec is working on a scope of work, budget, and schedule. 

• Horsetooth Reservoir Auxiliary (Redundant) Outlet by Northern Water  

o Northern presented 3 alternatives for redundancy. 

o Ranged in cost from $31M to $46M. 

o Northern looking into possible Federal funding options. 

o Consensus to follow up on Option 1 – New Soldier Canyon Dam 

Outlet. 

• HDR performed data gathering interviews with each District and Plant 

staff as part of the 20-Year Master plan. 



Horsetooth Auxiliary Outlet Works Study
Project Updates

05-19-2023



2

2

Agenda

 Draft Purpose and Need
 Review of Alternatives
 Construction Cost Estimates
 Comparison of Alternatives
 Summary
 Schedule Status



3

3

Purpose and Need

PURPOSE AND NEED:
The purpose of the Horsetooth Reservoir Auxiliary Outlet Works project is to provide for long-term 
reliability in water supply deliveries out of Horsetooth Reservoir for existing water users via the 
Pleasant Valley Pipeline. 

The need is to develop redundancy in the current water delivery system from Horsetooth Reservoir, in 
a manner that maintains the seasonal water quality of current deliveries, to alleviate periodic 
constraints on delivery due to maintenance shutdowns, outages, fire management, or other 
emergency situations. 

Northern Water has identified several limitations on its current water delivery system, particularly in 
relation to water quality, redundancy, and water delivery to three water treatment plants (WTPs) within 
Northern Water’s system boundaries.

• Soldier Canyon Filter Plant (Tri-Districts)
• City of Fort Collins Water Treatment Facility (City of Fort Collins)
• Bellvue Water Treatment Plant WTP (City of Greeley)



4

4

Conceptual Alternatives Considered

− Alternative 1. Soldier Canyon Auxiliary Outlet Works

− Alternative 2. Horsetooth Dam Outlet Works Tie-In

− Alternative 3. Hansen Supply Canal Pump Station 

−All of the alternatives will connect to the existing Pleasant Valley Pipeline (PVP)



−Alternative 1. Soldier Canyon Auxiliary 
Outlet Works

−Alternative 2. Horsetooth Dam Outlet 
Works Tie-In

−Alternative 3. Hansen Supply Canal Pump 
Station 

All of the alternatives will connect to the existing 
Pleasant Valley Pipeline (PVP)

Conceptual Alternatives Considered

Soldier Canyon Auxiliary Outlet Works

Horsetooth Dam Outlet Works Tie-in

Hansen Supply Canal
Pump Station



6

6



7

7

Design Criteria
Parameter Value

Embankment Crest El. (feet) 5443

Normal Maximum Operating Pool El. (feet) 5430

Normal Minimum Operating Pool El. (feet) 5370

Minimum Operating Pool El. (feet) 5325

Existing Soldier Canyon Dam Intake El. 5270

Existing Horsetooth Dam Intake El. 5293

PVP Min. Operating Pressure (psi) 10 (assumed)

PVP Max. Operating Pressure (psi) 120

Design Discharge (cfs) 190



8

8

Alternative 1
Soldier Canyon Auxiliary Outlet Works
Key Features:

• New gated reinforced concrete intake tower (Intake El. 5,355 feet, 98 feet high)
• Tunnel and concrete encased 72-inch diameter steel outlet through left abutment (approx. 500’ 

feet length)
• New 66-inch diameter steel pipeline to PVP (approx. 1,200 feet length)
• Crossing of existing Soldier Canyon pipelines
• Associated valves, vaults and measuring devices

Construction Considerations:
• Requires lowering of reservoir
• Access from right abutment (public swim beach)



9

9

Horsetooth Reservoir Elevations (2009-2021)



10

10

Invert El. 5355

~100,000 AF



11

11

Alternative 1
Soldier Canyon Auxiliary Outlet Works- Plan View

Outlet Vault

South Route

PVP

New Outlet Works Alignment



12

12

Alternative 1
Soldier Canyon Auxiliary Outlet Works– Multi Intake Tower Sections

Outlet Vault

South Route

PVPInv El 5355.0



13

13

Alternative 1
Soldier Canyon Auxiliary Outlet Works - Connection to PVP

North Route PVP

Outlet Vault

Multiple Intake Gate provide 
operational flexibility



14

14



15

15

Alternative 2
Horsetooth Dam Outlet Works Tie-in
Key Features:

• Bifurcation and extension off existing 72-inch Horsetooth Dam outlet conduit
• New 66-inch diameter steel pipeline to PVP (approx. 10,300 feet length)
• Associated valves, vaults and measuring devices

Construction Considerations:
• 2 alternatives for connection to existing Horsetooth Dam outlet
• Requires easement acquisition
• Outlet and canal shut during construction of bifurcation



16

16

Alternative 2
Horsetooth Tie-in – Plan View

North Route

PVP



17

17



18

18



19

19

Alternative 2
Horsetooth Tie-in - Connection to PVP

South Route

PVP



20

20

Alternative 2
Horsetooth Tie-in - Connection to PVP

South Route

PVP



21

21

Alternative 2
Horsetooth Tie-in - Connection to PVP

South Route

PVP



22

22

Alternative 3
Hansen Supply Canal Pump Station
Key Features:

• Intake system within the existing Hansen Supply Canal
• Pump station (seven 700-hp vertical turbine pumps)
• New 67-inch diameter steel pipeline to 

PVP (approx. 140 feet length)
• Associated valves, vaults and measuring devices

Construction Considerations:
• Outlet and canal shut during construction of intake
• Requires power to be brought to site
• Requires property acquisition for pump station



23

23

Alternative 3
Hansen Supply Canal Pump Station-Concept Plan



24

24

Alternative 3
Hansen Supply Canal Pump Station-Concept Profile



25

25

Alternative 3
Hansen Supply Canal Pump Station-Concept Profile



26

26

Alternative 3
Hansen Supply Canal Pump Station-Concept Profile



27

27



28

28

Cost Estimate Approach and Basis

• Quantities developed from preliminary design drawings
• Equipment and material costs obtained from actual vendor quotes or recent similar projects
• Installation costs added to unit rates or included as a percentage of equipment costs
• Provisions included for:

• Contingency (20%)
• Engineering (8%)
• Administrative and Legal Costs (5%)
• Constr. Oversight, QA/QC Testing, Reporting (10%)

• Costs do not include:
• Price escalation and market at time of bid
• Change order reserves
• Sales and gross receipt taxes
• Regulatory permits, environmental studies, and mitigation
• Procurement
• Owner construction management
• Power to site (as required)



29

29

Cost Estimate Summary

Alternative No. Description Estimated Cost ($M)

1 Soldier Canyon Auxiliary Outlet Works $31.9

2 Horsetooth Dam Outlet Works Tie-in $41.4

3 Hanson Supply Canal Pump Station $46.8



30

30

Alternative Comparison Basis
Overall Approach

1. Evaluation criteria developed jointly between Northern and AECOM
2. Alternatives were qualitatively rated at the ability to meet the given criteria



Costs
• Construction Cost
• O&M Costs

Construction Risks and Temporary Impacts
• Constructability
• Construction Risk
• Temporary Impacts to Reservoir Operations and 

Water Deliveries
• Temporary Recreation and Public Impacts
• Temporary Impacts to Existing Infrastructure 
• Temporary Water Quality Impacts

Environmental, Social and Cultural Impacts
• Potential Environmental Impacts 
• Potential Social and Cultural Impacts
• Water Quality Impacts

Permitting and Approvals
• Environmental Permitting Requirements 
• USBR Reclamation Coordination/Approval 
• Coordination with Stakeholders 
• Right of Way (ROW) and Property Acquisition 

Requirements

Operational Considerations and Long-term 
Impacts
• Redundancy 
• Reliability of Water Deliveries 
• Operation and Maintenance Requirements 
• Value Added Opportunities*
• Integration into Existing Operations* 
• Operational Flexibility*

Evaluation Criteria

*Factor of consideration but not a driver.



32

32

Criteria Description Alternative 1-Soldier 
Canyon Auxiliary Outlet 
Works

Alternative 2-Horsetooth 
Dam Outlet Works Tie-in

Alternative 3-Hanson 
Supply Canal Pump Station

Costs
Construction Cost Capital cost of the proposed 

alternative.
$31.9 
+

$41.4 
+/-

$46.8 
-

O&M Costs O&M costs associated with the 
proposed alternative.

Typical operation and 
maintenance associated with 
an intake tower and tunnel 
+/-

Minimal operation and 
maintenance associated 
with the pipeline 
+

Significant operation and 
maintenance costs 
associated with 
pumping/mechanical 
equipment and electrical 
systems 
-

Construction Risks and Temporary Impacts
Constructability Constructability is defined as 

the overall feasibility of 
construction.

Tunnel construction (geologic 
uncertainty), access 
restrictions 
-

Modifications to existing 
outlet works required, 
standard pipeline 
construction 
+

No modifications to existing 
dam facilities, 
+/-

Construction Risk and 
Complexity of Construction

Risk associated with the overall 
construction of the alternative 
including the potential for cost 
growth and schedule impacts.

Tunnel, access, winter 
concrete placement, 
scheduling associated with 
reservoir drawdown
-

Modification to existing 
outlet works completed 
during periods of shut down
+

Complex facility construction 
and potential long lead times 
for equipment
+/-

Temporary Impacts to 
Reservoir Operations and Water 
Deliveries

Lowering of pool or impact to 
normal water deliveries during 
construction.

Requires lowering of 
reservoir during construction 
-

Requires temporary closure 
of discharges from existing 
Horsetooth outlets during 
periods of regularly 
scheduled shut down
+

Requires temporary 
disruption of water 
discharges in Hanson Supply 
Canal during periods of 
regularly scheduled shut 
down 
+



33

33

Criteria Description Alternative 1-Soldier Canyon 
Auxiliary Outlet Works

Alternative 2-Horsetooth 
Dam Outlet Works Tie-in

Alternative 3-Hanson Supply 
Canal Pump Station

Temporary Recreation and Public 
Impacts

Impacts to general public or 
recreational facilities.

Requires lowering of reservoir 
during winter and temporary 
closure of recreational facilities 
during off-season
-

Minimal impacts
+

Minimal impacts
+

Temporary Impacts to Existing 
Infrastructure

Impacts to existing utilities, 
roadways and irrigation systems.

Requires closure of swim 
beach and County road across 
dam during construction
-

Crossings of existing 
roadways, private access 
roads and irrigation facilities 
required
+/-

Minimal impacts
+

Temporary Water Quality Impacts Temporary impact to overall 
water quality during construction.

Requires lowering of 
Horsetooth Reservoir, may 
impact water quality
-

Minimal water quality impacts 
during construction 
anticipated
+

Minimal water quality impacts 
during construction anticipated
+

Environmental, Social and Cultural Resources

Potential Environmental Impacts Extent of potential environmental 
impacts associated with the 
alternative.

Lowering of reservoir may 
have environmental impacts
-

Conveyance pipeline 
construction may have 
associated environmental 
impacts
+/-

Minimal environmental impact
+

Potential Social and Cultural 
Impacts

Extent of potential social and 
cultural resource impacts 
associated with the alternative.

Social impacts during 
construction, potential cultural 
resource impacts for 
temporary access road
-

Temporary impacts only, 
long-term impacts minimal 
+/-

Minimal impacts
+



34

34

Criteria Description Alternative 1-Soldier Canyon 
Auxiliary Outlet Works

Alternative 2-Horsetooth 
Dam Outlet Works Tie-in

Alternative 3-Hanson Supply 
Canal Pump Station

Permitting and Approvals

Environmental Permitting 
Requirements

Extent of anticipated permitting 
and approvals required for the 
alternative. 

Environmental and cultural 
clearances may be required for 
construction
-

Environmental and cultural 
clearances may be required 
for construction
-

Minimal environmental and 
cultural clearances anticipated 
(previous site of temporary 
pump station)
+

Reclamation 
Coordination/Approval

Is coordination and approval from 
Reclamation Required?

Approval required
-

Approval required
+/-

Alternative does not impact 
existing Reclamation facilities, 
no approval required
+

Coordination with Stakeholders Requirements related to 
Stakeholder input.

Requires coordination with 
multiple stakeholders .
-

???
+

???
+

ROW and Property Acquisition 
Requirements

Requirements for ROW and 
property acquisition associated 
with the alternative.

None required
+

Requires obtaining temporary 
construction easements and 
permanent right-of-way on 
private property
-

Property for pump station is not 
owned by Northern and will 
need to be acquired
+/-



35

35

Criteria Description Alternative 1-Soldier Canyon 
Auxiliary Outlet Works

Alternative 2-Horsetooth 
Dam Outlet Works Tie-in

Alternative 3-Hanson Supply 
Canal Pump Station

Operational Considerations and Long-term Impacts
Redundancy (Meets Purpose and 
Need)

Ability to provide a reliable 
alternative and redundant water 
source to all Stakeholders. Does 
one alternative better meet the 
needs of all water users 
compared to others.

New outlet could become 
primary outlet for Horsetooth 
releases
+

Provides alternative delivery 
to PVP
+

Water deliveries could be 
impacted during winter 
operations, facility would only 
be utilized during emergency 
operations
+

Reliability of Water Deliveries Criteria used to evaluate the 
overall reliability of water 
deliveries including seasonal 
reliability.

New outlet could serve as a 
reliable primary outlet from 
Horsetooth Reservoir
+

Winter operations could 
impact deliveries
+

Emergency use only, limited 
water deliveries during winter
-

Operation and Maintenance 
Requirements

Requirements for operation and 
maintenance of the proposed 
alternative.

Requires maintenance of gates, 
tower, tunnel and access
+/-

Requires winter operations of 
penstock
+

Requires operation and 
maintenance of a pump station, 
winter operations difficult due to 
freezing of Hansen supply 
canal, potential sediment and 
debris issues
-

Value Added Opportunities Criteria used to rank the overall 
opportunity of the alternative for 
future expansion of water 
deliveries and use by additional 
users.

Ability to increase water 
deliveries based on size of 
outlet conduit, outlet could be 
primary outlet from Horsetooth, 
ability to draw water from 
different levels in the reservoir
+

Ability to increase water 
deliveries based on size of 
outlet conduit, provisions for 
providing low flow regulating 
valve
+/-

Capacity limited by pump sizes, 
used only in emergency 
situations
-

Integration into Existing 
Operations

How does the proposed 
modification fit into the existing 
operations and how often is the 
facility used.

???
+

???
+

???
-

Operational Flexibility Ability to provide water to 
stakeholders.

Provides additional outlet from 
Horsetooth Reservoir at varying 
water elevations
+

Provides for low flow 
regulating valve on Horsetooth
Dam Outlet Works
+

Minimal operational flexibility, 
used in emergency situations 
only; requires significant 
operation and maintenance
-



36

36

Conclusions and Recommendations
1. All of the alternatives evaluated meet the purpose and need as outlined by Northern Water.

2. Alternative 1: Soldier Canyon Auxiliary Outlet Works
o Most cost-effective alternative
o Redundant means of water delivery from Horsetooth Reservoir at Soldier Canyon
o Require a tunnel outlet
o Requires lowering of the reservoir

3. Alternative 2: Horsetooth Dam Outlet Works Tie-in
o Requires modification of the existing Horsetooth Dam outlet works
o Requires construction of a nearly 2-mile long pipeline to the PVP
o Requires new easements and may have additional unidentified environmental impacts.

4. Alternative 3: Hansen Supply Canal Pump Station
o Does not require any modifications to the existing Horsetooth Reservoir dams
o Highest Construction Cost 



Schedule to Complete
Item Status

Draft Alternatives Evaluation Report May 16, 2023

Meetings with Key Stakeholders May 19, 2023

Planning Session Board Meeting June 1, 2023

Final Alternatives Evaluation Report End June, 2023



SOLDIER CANYON FILTER PLANT

3 YEAR COMPARITIVE USAGE

TRI-DISTRICTS

2021 - 2023

[3yruse2003.xls]

NWCWD FCLWD ELCOWD MO. TOTAL

2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023

MONTH

JAN. 213.232 234.429 229.737 104.782 120.573 113.018 67.179 71.023 77.609 385.193 426.025 420.364

FEB. 198.610 209.077 216.632 96.767 97.666 95.005 66.857 67.231 64.464 362.234 373.974 376.101

MAR. 221.902 232.206 225.289 119.593 108.830 92.041 66.593 75.633 81.548 408.088 416.669 398.878

APR. 237.188 267.526 233.848 126.389 188.202 122.963 69.689 95.364 80.160 433.266 551.092 436.971

MAY  264.431 337.491 278.952 195.029 372.881 258.403 91.809 153.949 124.410 551.269 864.321 661.765

JUN. 426.419 375.998 468.780 498.690 198.058 211.301 1093.257 1085.989 0.000

JUL. 475.675 400.401 577.994 559.459 230.767 219.816 1284.436 1179.676 0.000

AUG. 446.326 392.969 545.214 527.105 218.222 213.667 1209.762 1133.741 0.000

SEP. 414.085 334.021 487.309 430.478 193.749 167.893 1095.143 932.392 0.000

OCT. 306.612 271.670 219.058 219.380 108.798 114.438 634.468 605.488 0.000

NOV. 236.168 219.703 106.260 96.875 67.336 72.121 409.764 388.699 0.000

DEC. 242.592 238.439 119.446 116.273 69.906 78.550 431.944 433.262 0.000

YR.TOT. 3683.240 3513.930 1184.458 3166.621 3336.412 681.430 1448.963 1540.986 428.191 8298.824 8391.328 2294.079

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D

M
IL

L
IO

N
 G

A
L

L
O

N
S

MONTH

TRI-DISTRICT USAGE COMPARISON            2021 - 2023
NWCWD

FCLWD

ELCOWD

MO.TOT.



May 2023 HT 1st Reading 06/01/23 16567418

HT 1st Reading 05/01/23 16102216

ELC TOT FCL TOT NWC TOT Dist Total 

Flow

SCFP Daily 

Peak Flow

HT Flow PV Flow Total Influent 

Flow
Date MGD MGD MGD MGD MGD MGD MGD5/1/2023 4.151 6.979 9.456 20.586 24.950 19.437 1.242 20.679

5/2/2023 4.182 6.729 9.751 20.662 25.060 21.059 0.000 21.059

5/3/2023 4.058 7.134 10.406 21.598 25.800 18.032 4.019 22.051

5/4/2023 3.917 7.009 10.177 21.103 24.520 19.704 2.961 22.665

5/5/2023 4.535 8.198 10.042 22.775 30.060 16.003 6.068 22.071

5/6/2023 3.748 10.020 10.503 24.271 30.050 19.648 5.877 25.525

5/7/2023 4.581 9.755 10.050 24.386 30.010 19.059 6.189 25.248

5/8/2023 5.360 10.826 10.532 26.718 32.250 20.643 5.858 26.501

5/9/2023 4.665 9.225 9.747 23.637 29.660 17.834 6.088 23.922

5/10/2023 3.159 9.686 8.488 21.333 30.510 16.586 4.931 21.517

5/11/2023 3.871 9.045 6.791 19.707 26.110 15.120 5.903 21.023

5/12/2023 2.460 10.232 6.955 19.647 24.820 14.486 6.613 21.099

5/13/2023 3.204 9.508 6.863 19.575 22.580 12.791 6.994 19.785

5/14/2023 3.091 9.277 6.463 18.831 22.700 16.535 2.832 19.367

5/15/2023 2.677 6.611 7.351 16.639 20.140 14.424 2.166 16.590

5/16/2023 3.104 6.277 7.365 16.746 17.810 13.817 2.404 16.221

5/17/2023 3.563 4.528 7.803 15.894 20.130 12.108 3.305 15.413

5/18/2023 2.611 3.289 7.599 13.499 20.250 9.684 5.405 15.089

5/19/2023 3.369 4.262 7.640 15.271 17.910 9.352 4.944 14.296

5/20/2023 3.339 3.471 8.198 15.008 25.360 11.140 5.305 16.445

5/21/2023 3.948 2.986 8.583 15.517 20.060 8.997 5.890 14.887

5/22/2023 4.120 4.892 9.515 18.527 25.080 13.022 7.531 20.553

5/23/2023 4.214 5.399 9.607 19.220 20.720 10.064 9.002 19.066

5/24/2023 4.517 6.472 9.733 20.722 27.320 11.728 9.434 21.162

5/25/2023 4.375 10.262 9.315 23.952 32.600 14.684 10.550 25.234

5/26/2023 4.498 10.826 8.758 24.082 29.460 14.126 10.629 24.755

5/27/2023 4.287 12.095 8.369 24.751 29.480 13.846 9.954 23.800

5/28/2023 3.950 11.872 8.437 24.259 29.920 15.887 10.016 25.903

5/29/2023 4.581 12.080 9.546 26.207 29.550 14.854 10.932 25.786

5/30/2023 4.643 12.170 9.324 26.137 30.840 15.022 11.528 26.550

5/31/2023 4.940 11.697 9.550 26.187 35.250 15.510 11.993 27.503

Minimum 2.460 2.986 6.463 13.499 17.810 8.997 0.000 14.296

Maximum 5.360 12.170 10.532 26.718 35.250 21.059 11.993 27.503

Average 3.926 8.155 8.804 20.885 26.160 15.007 6.341 21.347

Metered Usage 121.718 252.812 272.917 647.447 465.202 196.563 661.765

% Used 18.80 39.05 42.15 100.00

MG Difference 2.692 5.591 6.035 14.318 Influent-Effluent Difference (MG) 14.318

Total Usage 124.410 258.403 278.952 661.765 Influent-Effluent Difference (%) 2.16

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority - Treatment Capacity Share

District

ELCO

FCLWD

NWCWD

TOTAL

Total 24-hour District Flows (MGD) SCFP Influent Flows (MGD)

Tri-Districts  Monthly Flows (MGD)

Capacity Allocation (MGD) Treatment Capacity Share (%)

60.000 100.000 %

13.719

23.043

23.238

22.865 %

38.405 %

38.730 %



















































 

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment 
Authority 

Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Information 

June 30, 2022 and 2021 

 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Table of Contents 
June 30, 2022 and 2021 

 

    Page     

Independent Auditors' Report 1 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (unaudited) 4 

Financial Statements 

Statements of Financial Position 8 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 9 

Statements of Cash Flows 10 

Notes to Financial Statements 11 

Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 36 

Schedule of Authority Contributions – Pension 37 

Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability 38 

Schedule of Authority Contributions – OPEB 39 

Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Revenues and Expenses – Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) 40 



1  

Independent Auditors' Report 

To the Board of Directors of 
Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
(the Authority), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Authority as of December 31, 2022, and the changes in financial position and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Other Matters 

The financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, were audited by 
other auditors whose report dated May 17, 2022, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the design, 
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that rise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

 



2  

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters that we identified 
during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary 
information, as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about 
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

  



3  

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The 
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis), is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is their 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The 2022 information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
supplementary information for the year ended December 31, 2022 is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation 
to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The District's basic financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, were audited by other auditors 
whose reports expressed an unqualified opinion on the respective financial statements of the financial statements. 
Their report on the 2021 Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) stated 
that, in their opinion, such information was fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, as a whole. 

 

Madison, Wisconsin  
June __, 2023 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 

4 
 

Management’s discussion and analysis is designed to provide an analysis of the Soldier Canyon Water 
Treatment Authority’s (the “Authority”) financial condition and operating results and to also inform the 
reader on the Authority’s financial issues and activities. 
 
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the Authority’s 
basic financial statements (beginning on page 7). 
 
2022 Highlights - Business-Type Activities 
 

o As of December 31, 2022, the Authority’s net position was $63,948,600, representing a 
decrease of $559,820 when compared to the balance as of December 31, 2021. 
 

o Total operating revenues increased to $4,601,247 during 2022, which was $39,554 more 
than in 2021.  

 
o Total operating expenses were $7,007,760 for 2022 representing an increase of 

$1,797,191 when compared to 2021.  
 

o Net capital assets were $62,435,510 in 2022 compared to $64,038,510 in 2021 for a 
decrease of $1,603,000. 

 
o The Authority has no long-term debt. 

 
Using this Annual Report 
 
The financial statements included in this annual report are those of a quasi-municipal corporation and a 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado engaged only in a business-type activity.  As an enterprise 
fund, the Authority’s basic financial statements include: 
 

Statements of Net Position - report the Authority’s current financial resources (short-term 
spendable resources) with capital assets and long-term obligations (See page 8). 
 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - report the Authority’s 
operating and non-operating revenues, by major source along with operating and non-operating 
expenses and capital contributions (See page 9). 
 
Statements of Cash Flows - report the Authority’s cash flows from operating activities, investing, 
capital and non-capital activities (See page 10). 

 
 

 
        
 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 

5 
 

Condensed Statement of Net Position 
 
 

 
 
The net position of the Authority decreased to $63,948,600 during 2022, a $559,820 or 0.9% decrease 
from 2021.   
 

Review of Revenues 
 
Water charges were $4,601,247 during 2022.  This represents an increase of $39,554 or 0.9% from 2021.   
 

Review of Operating Expenses  
 

 
 
 

 
In 2022, operations and maintenance expenses were 20.9% under the final budget and down 8.0% from 
the previous year of $3,991,558. Considerable staff vacancies caused expenses to decrease compared to 
the previous year. Depreciation increased to $3,037,842 in 2022 as compared to $890,327 in 2022.   
 
 

December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Current assets 3,365,187$    4,530,870$     6,377,106$     

Noncurrent assets 221,454$        
Capital assets, net 62,435,510    64,038,510     55,001,741     

Total assets 66,022,151    68,569,380     61,378,847     

Deferred outflows of resources 552,030          624,197         345,391         

Current Liabilities 337,566          1,847,089      3,599,017      
Long-term liabilities 307,617          1,467,548      1,967,944      

Total liabilities 645,183          3,314,637      5,566,961      

Deferred inflows of resources 1,980,398      1,370,520      772,047         

Net investment in capital assets 62,435,510    62,176,423     55,001,741     
Restricted 221,454          -                    -                    
Unrestricted 1,291,636      2,331,997      383,489         

Total net position 63,948,600$  64,508,420$   55,385,230$   

Years Ending December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Operating Expenses:

Operating and maintenance 3,669,585$    3,991,558$     3,611,416$     
Administrative services 300,333          328,684         214,700         
Depreciation 3,037,842      890,327         737,771         

Total 7,007,760$    5,210,569$     4,563,887$     



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 

6 
 

Capital Contributions and Transfers 
 
The Loveland/Ft. Collins, East Larimer County and North Weld County Water Districts (the “Districts”) 
had combined cash contributions of $1,770,732 and $9,765,862 to the Authority during 2022 and 2021. 
In 2017, the Districts contributed their ownership in Soldier Canyon Filter Plant and related capital 
assets to the Authority in exchange for specified water treatment capacity. The total capital 
contributions in 2017 was $22,665,492. 

 
Capital Assets 

 

 
 
 
 

Additions in 2022 and 2021 were: 
 

• Water treatment filter plant, plant expansion and improvements, safety equipment, and 
general equipment totaling $1,434,842 and $9,036,769, respectively. 

 
Debt and Other Financial Obligations 

 
The Authority has no outstanding debt at December 31, 2022. 
 

Basic Service Fees, Rates and Changes 
 
The Authority’s rates are reviewed and established by the Board of Directors to cover operations and 
maintenance costs of the Authority. 
 
The Districts are charged based upon the amount of water processed through the system for variable 
operations and maintenance and their respective capacity share for fixed operations and maintenance 
and capital. Water used by the districts is billed separately to each district. 

 
Capital Improvement Program 

 
The Authority’s long-range plan revolves around the Master Plan from each of the water districts, which 
are based upon demand or regulation of water quality. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year Ending December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Land 83,869$         83,869$        83,869$        

Construction in progress 150,712         698,358        31,024,555   

Filter plant 65,961,559    64,079,649   22,956,531   

Equipment 3,062,561      2,961,983     3,831,808     

Total 69,258,701$  67,823,859$ 57,896,763$ 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 

7 
 

 
 
 
The following table sets forth a summary of the Authority’s capital assets acquired between 2021 and 
2022. 
 

Capital Projects/Equipment Acquisition Summary (Funded Projects) 2021-2022 

 

 
 
Financial Contract  
 
The Authority’s financial statements are designed to present users with a general overview of the 
Authority’s finances and to demonstrate the Authority’s accountability.  If you have any questions about 
the report or need additional financial information, please contact our staff at 4424 Laporte Avenue, 
Fort Collins, Colorado 80521. 
 



December 31, 2022 and 2021

2022 2021
Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,333,492$       2,762,245$       
Accounts receivable, participants 579,768            1,535,284         
Accounts receivable, other 5,474                39,074              
Prepaid expenses 217,215            27,153              
Inventory of chemicals 229,238            167,114            

Total current assets 3,365,187         4,530,870         

Noncurrent Assets
Restricted  assets:

Net pension asset 221,454            -                        
Capital assets:

Capital assets not being depreciated 234,581            604,402            
Capital assets being depreciated, net accumulated depreciation 62,200,929       63,434,108       

Total capital assets 62,435,510       64,038,510       

Total noncurrent assets 62,656,964       64,038,510       

Total assets 66,022,151       68,569,380       

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amounts related to pensions 503,413            601,953            
Deferred amounts related to OPEB 48,617              22,244              

Total deferred outflows of resources 552,030            624,197            

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position

Current Liabilities
Customer deposits 292,070            1,802,333         
Accrued payroll liabilities 45,496              45,496              

Total current liabilities 337,566            1,847,089         

Noncurrent Liabilities
Accrued compensated absences 134,716            107,193            
Net pension liability -                        1,194,209         
Net OPEB liability 172,901            166,146            

Total noncurrent liabilities 307,617            1,467,548         

Total liabilities 645,183            3,314,637         

Deferred Inflows of Resources   
Deferred amounts related to pensions 1,919,319         1,310,348         
Deferred amounts related to OPEB 61,079              60,172              

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,980,398         1,370,520         

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 62,435,510       62,176,423       
Restricted:

Pension 221,454            -                        
Unrestricted 1,291,636         2,331,997         

Total net position 63,948,600$     64,508,420$     

Statements of Net Position
Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 

See notes to financial statements
8



2022 2021
Operating Revenues

Water charges 4,601,247$        4,561,693$        

Total operating revenues 4,601,247          4,561,693          

Operating Expenses
Source of supple 57,016               74,179               
Water treatment 3,612,569          3,917,379          
Administration and general 300,333             328,684             
Depreciation 3,037,842          890,327             

Total operating expenses 7,007,760          5,210,569          

Operating income (loss) (2,406,513)        (648,876)           

Nonoperating Revenue
Earnings on investments 20,574               844                    
Miscellaneous income 55,387               5,360                 

Total nonoperating revenues 75,961               6,204                 

Income (loss) before capital contributions (2,330,552)        (642,672)           

Capital contributions from participants 1,770,732          9,765,862          

Change in net position (559,820)           9,123,190          

Net Position, Beginning 64,508,420        55,385,230        

Net Position, Ending 63,948,600$      64,508,420$      

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

See notes to financial statements
9



2022 2021
Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Cash received from customers 5,591,270$        5,675,552$        
Cash paid to employees (2,245,460)        (2,486,759)        
Cash paid to suppliers (2,701,732)        (2,239,406)        

Net cash flows from operating activities 644,078             949,387             

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Earnings on investments 20,574               844                    
Other income 55,387               5,360                 

Net cash flows from investing activities 75,961               6,204                 

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (2,919,524)        (11,434,745)      
Contribution received for construction 1,770,732          9,765,862          

Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities (1,148,792)        (1,168,883)        

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (428,753)           (713,292)           

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 2,762,245          3,475,537          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Ending 2,333,492$        2,762,245$        

Noncash Investing, Capital and Financing Activities

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by
Operating Activities

Operating income (2,406,513)$     (648,876)$        
Noncash items included in operating income:

Depreciation 3,037,842        890,327           
Changes in assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred 

inflows:
Customer accounts receivable 989,116           1,113,859        
Prepayments (190,062)          77,477             
Materials and supplies (62,124)            (58,392)            
Accounts payable (25,581)            (261,856)          
Other current liabilities 740                  17,577             
Accrued compensated absences 27,523             (7,042)              
Pension liability (asset) and related items (708,152)          (155,479)          
OPEB liability and related items (18,711)            (18,208)            

Net cash provided by operating activities 644,078$         949,387$         

Supplemental Noncash Flow Information
Capital assets aquired through accounts payable (22,966)$          (1,507,649)$     

Years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Statements of Cash Flows

See notes to financial statements
10



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

11 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Nature of Activities 

The Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority (the Authority) was formed on February 1, 2017 as a 
result of the transfer of all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources of the Soldier Canyon Filter Plant (the Plant). In connection with the formation of the 
Authority, the North Weld County Water District (NWCWD), Fort Collins and Loveland Water District 
(FCLWD) and East Larimer County Water District (ELCO), (collectively the Districts), contributed their 
ownership in the Soldier Canyon Filter Plant (previously accounted for as a joint venture), along with 
the related capital assets, to the Authority in exchange for specified water treatment capacity. The 
purpose of the Authority is to provide treated water to the Districts that have acquired water treatment 
capacity (the right to purchase water) from the Authority. In conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB), the Authority is the reporting entity for financial reporting purposes. The Authority is 
the lowest level of government having financial accountability and control to provide water filtration 
service within the political subdivision identified as the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority. 
The accounts of the Authority are organized on the basis of a proprietary fund. The operations of the 
Authority are accounted for with a set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net position, revenues and expenses.  

Financial Reporting Entity 

As defined by GAAP established by the GASB, the financial reporting entity consists of the primary 
government, as well as component units, which are legally separate organizations for which elected 
officials of the primary government are financially accountable. Financial accountability is defined as: 

1) Appointment of a voting majority of the component unit's board, and either, a) the ability to 
impose its will by the primary government, or b) the possibility that the component unit will provide 
a financial benefit to or impose a financial burden on the primary government; or 

2) Fiscal dependency on the primary government 

Based on the above criteria, there are no other organizations that would be considered component 
units of the Authority. 

Basic Financial Statements 

The Authority is a special – purpose government engaged only in business – type activities. As such, 
enterprise fund financial statements are presented. 

Basis of Accounting 

Proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this 
measurement focus, all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources associated with operations are included on the statement of net position. Revenues are 
recorded in the accounting period in which they are earned and become measurable; expenses are 
recorded in the period in which they are incurred and become measurable. Net position is segregated 
into net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted net position. Proprietary fund-type 
operating statements present increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases (e.g., expenses) in total net 
position. Proprietary funds are used to account for activities similar to those found in the private 
sector, where the determination of net income is necessary or useful to sound financial 
administration. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

12 

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

An annual budget and appropriation resolution is adopted by the Board of Directors in accordance 
with Colorado state statutes. The budget is prepared on a basis consistent with GAAP, except that 
capital asset additions and principal payments are budgeted as expenditures and debt proceeds are 
budgeted as revenues. 

• On or about October 15, the Authority staff submits to the Board of Directors a proposed 
operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following January 1. The operating 
budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. 

• Public hearings are conducted at regular meetings of the Board of Directors to obtain 
taxpayer comments. 

• Prior to December 15, the budget is legally adopted by the Board of Directors. 

• Unused appropriations lapse at the end of each year. 

• Budgeted amounts reported in the accompanying financial statements are as originally 
adopted and as amended by the Board of Directors throughout the year. 

The following is a summary of the original budget, total revisions and revised budget for total 
expenditures for fiscal year 2022: 

  Original Budget  Total Revision  Revised Budget 
 

Enterprise Fund  $ 10,338,286  $ -  $ 9,417,593 
          

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Authority considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three 
months or less and amounts held in local government investment pools to be cash equivalents. 

Local Government Investment Pool 

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Authority had invested $1,174,201 and $1,753,627, 
respectively, in the Colorado Local Government Liquid Asset Trust (the Trust), an investment vehicle 
established for local government entities in Colorado to pool surplus funds. The State Securities 
Commission administers and enforces all State statutes governing the Trust. The Trust operates 
similarly to a money market fund and each share is equal in value to $1. 

The Trust offers shares in two portfolios, COLOTRUST PRIME and COLOTRUST PLUS+. 
COLOTRUST PRIME invests only in U.S. Treasury and government agencies. COLOTRUST PLUS+ 
can invest in U.S. Treasury, government agencies and in the highest-rate commercial paper. A 
designated custodial bank serves as custodian for the Trust’s portfolios pursuant to a custodian 
agreement. The custodian acts as a safekeeping agent for the Trust's investment portfolios and 
provides services as the depository in connection with direct investments and withdrawals. The 
custodian's internal records segregate investments owned by the Trust. The Trust is rated AAAm by 
Standard and Poor's and is measured at net asset value. There are no unfunded commitments, the 
redemption frequency is daily and there is no redemption notice period. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

13 

Prepaid Expenses 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded 
as prepaid expenses in the financial statements. Accounts Receivable – Members. 

Inventory 

Inventories, primarily consisting of chemicals, are shown in the financial statements at cost, using the 
first-in first-out method of accounting. 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets purchased or contributed with an original cost or fair value of $5,000 or more are 
capitalized using historical cost or fair value. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged 
to operations as incurred. Property replacements and improvements, which extend the lives of 
assets, are capitalized and subsequently depreciated.  

The provision for depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets. The lives used for individual components classified as equipment are as follows: 
 
 

  Years 
   
Filter plant  50 years 
Equipment  5-10 years 

 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption 
of net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of 
net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time. The Authority's deferred outflows and inflows of resources primarily relate to 
pensions and other post-employment benefits (OPEB) more fully described in notes 4 and 5.  

Compensated Absences 

Obligations associated with the Authority's vacation policy are recorded as a liability and expensed 
when earned to the extent that such benefits vest to the employee. The amount of the accrued and 
unpaid balance due under this policy is considered a long-term liability. The Authority’s liability for 
accrued compensated absences was $134,716 and $106,966 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively, shown as accrued compensated absences on the Statements of Net Position. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

14 

Pensions 

The Authority participates in the Local Government Division Trust Fund (LGDTF), a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Public Employees’ Retirement 
Association of Colorado (PERA). The net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, pension expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position (FNP) and additions to/deductions from the FNP of the LGDTF have been determined 
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

The Colorado General Assembly passed significant pension reform through Senate Bill (SB) 18-200: 
Concerning Modifications To the Public Employees' Retirement Association Hybrid Defined Benefit 
Plan Necessary to Eliminate with a High Probability the Unfunded Liability of the Plan Within the Next 
Thirty Years. The bill was signed into law by Governor Hickenlooper on June 4, 2018. SB 18-200 
made changes to certain benefit provisions. Most of these changes were in effect as of December 31, 
2021. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 

The Authority participates in the Health Care Trust Fund (HCTF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer 
defined benefit OPEB fund administered by PERA. The net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, OPEB expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position (FNP) and additions to/deductions from the FNP of the HCTF have been 
determined using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 
For this purpose, benefits paid on behalf of health care participants are recognized when due and/or 
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

Net Position 

Net position is classified in the following categories: 

• Net Investment in Capital Assets - This category groups all capital assets into one 
component of net position reduced by any outstanding borrowings attributed to the related 
assets. Accumulated depreciation of these assets reduces this category. 
 

• Restricted Net Position - This category presents external restrictions imposed by creditors, 
grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments and restriction imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 

• Unrestricted Net Position - This category represents the net position of the Authority which 
is not restricted for any project or other purpose. A deficit will require future funding. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Authority's policy to 
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenues are recognized when earned. Amounts are billed on a monthly basis. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

15 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant accounting 
estimates include those for the net pension and net OPEB liabilities. 

 
2. Liquidity and Availability 

Deposits 

Colorado state statutes govern the entity's deposits of cash. For deposits in excess of federally 
insured limits, Colorado Revised Statutes (CRS) require the depository institution to maintain 
collateral on deposit with an official custodian (as authorized by the State Banking Board). The 
Colorado Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA) requires state regulators to certify eligible 
depositories for public deposit. PDPA requires the eligible depositories with public deposits in excess 
of the federal insurance levels to create a single institutional collateral pool of obligations of the State 
of Colorado or local Colorado governments and obligations secured by first lien mortgages on real 
property located in the State. The pool is to be maintained by another institution or held in trust for all 
uninsured public deposits as a group. The market value of the assets in the pool must be at least 
102% of the uninsured deposits. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Authority had deposits with a 
financial institution with a carrying amount of $1,159,041 and $1,008,368, respectively. The bank 
balances with the financial institution were $1,173,137 and $1,624,237, respectively. Of these 
amounts, $250,000 was covered by federal depository insurance. The remaining balances of 
$923,137 and $1,374,237 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, was collateralized with 
securities held by the financial institutions' agents but not in the Authority's name. 

Cash and cash equivalents held by the Authority were as follows: 

  2022  2021 
 

Financial assets at year-end:       
Cash on hand   $ 250  $ 250 
Bank deposits   1,159,041   1,008,368 
Local government investment pool   1,174,201   1,753,627 

       
Total   $ 2,333,492  $ 2,762,245 

Investments 

Colorado state statutes specify investment instruments meeting defined rating and risk criteria in 
which local governments may invest which include: 

• Certificates of deposit with an original maturity in excess of three months 
• Obligations of the United States and U.S. Government agency securities 
• Certain international agency securities 
• General obligation and revenue bonds of U.S. local government entities 
• Banker's acceptance of certain banks 
• Commercial paper 
• Written repurchase agreements collateralized by certain authorized securities 
• Certain money market funds 
• Guaranteed investment contracts 
• Local government investment pools 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

16 

The Authority's policy is to hold investments until maturity. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Authority does not have a formal written investment policy that limits investment maturities as a 
means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates; however 
the Authority adheres to state statutes. Colorado Revised Statutes limit investment maturities to five 
years or less from the date of purchase. 

Custodial Credit Risk 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Authority's deposits may not be 
returned to it. The Authority does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. Deposits exposed 
to credit risk are collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial instruction through the 
PDPA. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, none of the Authority's bank balances were exposed to 
custodial credit risk. 

 
3. Capital Assets 

The following is a summary of capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2022: 

  
Beginning 
Balance  Additions  

Deletions/ 
Reclassifications  

Ending  
Balance 

Capital assets, not being 
depreciated:             

Land   $ 83,869  $ -  $ -  $ 83,869 
Construction in progress   520,533   150,712   (520,533)   150,712 

             
Total capital assets, not 

being depreciated   604,402   150,712   (520,533)   234,581 
             
Capital assets being depreciated:             

Filter plant   64,257,474   1,218,754   485,331   65,961,559 
Equipment   2,961,983   65,376   35,202   3,062,561 

             
Total capital assets being 

depreciated   67,219,457   1,284,130   520,533   69,024,120 
             
Less accumulated depreciation for:             

Filter plant   (2,228,781)   (2,759,934)   (646,500)   (5,635,215) 
Equipment   (1,556,568)   (277,908)   646,500   (1,187,976) 

             
Total accumulated 

depreciation   (3,785,349)   (3,037,842)   -   (6,823,191) 
             

Net capital assets being 
depreciated   63,434,108   (1,753,712)   520,533   62,200,929 

             
Net capital assets  $ 64,038,510  $ (1,603,000)  $ -  $ 62,435,510 
 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

17 

The following is a summary of capital assets activity for the year ended December 31, 2021: 
 

  
Beginning 
Balance  Additions  

Deletions/ 
Reclassifications  

Ending  
Balance 

Capital assets, not being 
depreciated:             

Land   $ 83,869  $ -  $ -  $ 83,869 
Construction in progress   31,024,555   9,749,271   (40,253,293)   520,533 

             
Total capital assets, not 

being depreciated   31,108,424   9,749,271   (40,253,293)   604,402 
             
Capital assets being depreciated:             

Filter plant   22,956,531   177,825   41,123,118   64,257,474 
Equipment   3,831,808   -   (869,825)   2,961,983 

             
Total capital assets being 

depreciated   26,788,339   177,825   40,253,293   67,219,457 
             
Less accumulated depreciation for:             

Filter plant   (1,775,471)   (453,310)   -   (2,228,781) 
Equipment   (1,119,551)   (437,017)   -   (1,556,568) 

             
Total accumulated 

depreciation   (2,895,022)   (890,327)   -   (3,785,349) 
             

Net capital assets being 
depreciated   23,893,317   (712,502)   40,253,293   63,434,108 

             
Net capital assets  $ 55,001,741  $ 9,036,769  $ -  $ 64,038,510 

 
 
4. Public Employees' Retirement Association of Colorado Pension Plan 

The Authority participates in the Local Government Division Trust Fund (LGDTF), a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Public Employees’ Retirement Association of 
Colorado (PERA). The net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position (FNP) and 
additions to/deductions from the FNP of the LGDTF have been determined using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. For this purpose, benefit payments (including 
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

The Colorado General Assembly passed significant pension reform through Senate Bill (SB) 18-200: 
Concerning Modifications to the Public Employees' Retirement Association Hybrid Defined Benefit Plan 
Necessary to Eliminate with a High Probability the Unfunded Liability of the Plan Within the Next Thirty 
Years. The bill was signed into law by Governor Hickenlooper on June 4, 2018. SB 18-200 made 
changes to certain benefit provisions. Most of these changes were in effect as of December 31, 2022. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

18 

Plan Description 

Eligible employees of the Authority are provided with pensions through the LGDTF a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by PERA. Plan benefits are specified in 
Title 24, Article 51 of the Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S.), administrative rules set forth at 8 
C.C.R. 1502-1, and applicable provisions of the federal Internal Revenue Code. Colorado State law 
provisions may be amended from time to time by the Colorado General Assembly. PERA issues a 
publicly available comprehensive annual financial report (Annual Report) that can be obtained at: 
www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports. 

Benefits Provided as of December 31, 2021 

PERA provides retirement, disability and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are determined by the 
amount of service credit earned and/or purchased, highest average salary, the benefit structure(s) 
under which the member retires, the benefit option selected at retirement and age at retirement. 
Retirement eligibility is specified in tables set forth at C.R.S. § 24-51-602, 604, 1713 and 1714. 

The lifetime retirement benefit for all eligible retiring employees under the PERA benefit structure is 
the greater of the: 

• Highest average salary multiplied by 2.5% and then multiplied by years of service credit. 
 

• The value of the retiring employee's member contribution account plus a 100% match on 
eligible amounts as of the retirement date. This amount is then annuitized into a monthly 
benefit based on life expectancy and other actuarial factors. 

The lifetime retirement benefit for all eligible retiring employees under the Denver Public Schools 
(DPS) benefit structure is the greater of the: 

• Highest average salary multiplied by 2.5% and then multiplied by years of service credit. 
 

• $15 times the first 10 years of service credit plus $20 times service credit over 10 years plus 
a monthly amount equal to the annuitized member contribution account balance based on life 
expectancy and other actuarial factors. 

In all cases the service retirement benefit is limited to 100% of highest average salary and also 
cannot exceed the maximum benefit allowed by federal Internal Revenue Code. 

Members may elect to withdraw their member contribution accounts upon termination of employment 
with all PERA employers; waiving rights to any lifetime retirement benefits earned. If eligible, the 
member may receive a match of either 50% or 100% on eligible amounts depending on when 
contributions were remitted to PERA, the date employment was terminated, whether 5 years of 
service credit has been obtained and the benefit structure under which contributions were made. 

  

http://www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports


Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

19 

As of December 31, 2020, benefit recipients who elect to receive a lifetime retirement benefit are 
generally eligible to receive post-retirement cost-of-living adjustments, referred to as annual increases 
in the C.R.S., once certain criteria are met. Pursuant to SB 18-200, eligible benefit recipients under 
the PERA benefit structure who began membership before January 1, 2007, and all eligible benefit 
recipients of the DPS benefit structure will receive an annual increase of 1.25% unless adjusted by 
the automatic adjustment provision (AAP) pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-51-413. Eligible benefit recipients 
under the PERA benefit structure who began membership on or after January 1, 2007 will receive the 
lessor of an annual increase of 1.25% or the average of the Consumer Price Index for Urban Wage 
Earners and Clerical Workers for the prior calendar year, not to exceed 10% of PERA's Annual 
Increase Reserve (AIR) for the LGDTF. The AAP may raise or lower the aforementioned annual 
increase by up to 0.25% based on the parameters specified in C.R.S. § 24-51-413. 

Disability benefits are available for eligible employees once they reach five years of earned service 
credit and are determined to meet the definition of disability. The disability benefit amount is based on 
the lifetime retirement benefit formula(s) shown above considering a minimum 20 years of service 
credit, if deemed disabled. 

Survivor benefits are determined by several factors, which include the amount of earned service 
credit, highest average salary of the deceased, the benefit structure(s) under which service credit was 
obtained, and the qualified survivor(s) who will receive the benefits. 

Contributions Provisions as of December 31, 2022 

Eligible employees and the Authority are required to contribute to the LGDTF at a rate set by 
Colorado statute. The contribution requirements are established under C.R.S. § 24-51-401, et seq. 
and § 24-51-413. Employee contribution rates for the period of January 1, 2020 through  
December 31, 2021 are summarized in the table below: 

     

  

January 1, 
2021 

Through 
June 30, 2021  

July 1, 2021 
Through 

December 31, 
2021  

January 1, 
2022 

Through 
June 30, 2022  

July 1, 2022 
Through 

December 31, 
2022 

 
Employer contribution   8.50 %  8.50 %  8.50 %  8.50 % 

 
**Contribution rates for the LGDTF are expressed as a percentage of salary as defined in C.R.S. § 
24-51-101(42). 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

20 

The employer contribution requirements are summarized in the table below: 

     

  

January 1, 
2021 

Through 
June 30, 2021  

July 1, 2021 
Through 

December 31, 
2021  

January 1, 
2022 

Through 
June 30, 2022  

July 1, 2022 
Through 

December 31, 
2022 

 
Employer contribution rate  10.5 %  10.5 %  10.5 %  11.00 % 
Amount of employer contribution 

apportioned to the Health Care 
Trust Fund as specified in C.R.S. § 
24-51-208(1)(f) 

  
 
 

(1.02) % 

 

(1.02) %  (1.02) %  (1.02) % 
Amount apportioned to the LGDTF  9.48 %  9.48 %  9.48 %  9.48 % 

Amortization Equalization 
Disbursement (AED) as specified 
in C.R.S. § 24-51-411 

  
 
 

2.20 % 

 

2.20 %  2.20 %  2.20 % 
Supplemental Amortization 

Equalization Disbursement 
(SAED) as specified in C.R.S. § 
24-51-411 

  
 
 
 

1.50 % 

 

1.50 %  1.50 %  1.50 % 

Defined Contribution Supplement 
as specified in C.R.S. § 24-51-
415 

  
 
 

.02 % 

 

.02 %  .02 %  .02 % 

Total employer 
contribution rate to the 
LGDTF 

  
 
 

13.20 % 

 

13.20 %  13.20 %  13.20 % 
 

**Contribution Rates for the LGDTF are expressed as a percentage of salary as defined in C.R.S. § 
24-51-101(42). 

Employer contributions are recognized by the LGDTF in the period in which the compensation 
becomes payable to the member and the Authority is statutorily committed to pay the contributions to 
the LGDTF. Employer contributions recognized by the LGDTF from the Authority were $260,906 and 
$255,620 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

Pension Liabilities (Assets), Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Authority reported a liability (asset) of ($211,454) and 
$1,194,209, respectively for its proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset). The net 
pension liability (asset) for the LGDTF was measured as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the 
total pension liability (asset) used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Standard update procedures were used to roll-forward 
the total pension liability (asset) to December 31, 2021 and 2020. The Authority's proportion of the net 
pension liability (asset) was based on the Authority's contributions to the LGDTF for the calendar year 
2021 and 2020 relative to the total contributions of participating employers to the LGDTF. 

At December 31, 2021, the Authority's proportion was 0.25829%, which was an increase of 0.02913% 
from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2020. 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Authority recognized pension expense of 
($708,152) and $100,141 respectively.  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

21 

At December 31, 2022 the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

  

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources  

Deferred  
Inflows of 
Resources 

 
Differences between expected and actual experience   $ 10,823  $ 3,699 
Changes of assumptions or other inputs   75,068   - 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 

pension plan investments   
- 

  
1,915,620 

Changes in proportion and differences between contributions 
recognized and proportionate share of contributions   

156,616 
  

- 

Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date   260,906   - 
       

Total   $ 503,413  $ 1,919,319 
 

The $260,906 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, resulting from 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability (asset) in the year ending December 31, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows: 

 
   Amortization 

Years ending December 31,    
2022  $ (285,162) 
2023   (696,998) 
2024   (462,197) 
2025   (232,455) 
Thereafter   - 

    
  $ (1,676,812) 

 
At December 31, 2021 the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

  

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources  

Deferred  
Inflows of 
Resources 

       
Differences between expected and actual experience   $ 57,739  $ - 
Changes of assumptions or other inputs   288,594   - 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 

pension plan investments   
- 

  
1,291,471 

Changes in proportion and differences between contributions 
recognized and proportionate share of contributions   

- 
  

18,877 

Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date   255,620   - 
       

Total   $ 601,953  $ 1,310,348 
 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

22 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liability (asset) in the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation was determined using 
the following actuarial cost method, actuarial assumptions and other inputs: 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age  
Price inflation  2.30%  
Real wage growth  0.70%  
Wage inflation  3.00%  
Salary increases, including wage inflation 3.20 – 11.30%  
Long-term investment rate of return, net of pension 
plan investment expenses, including price inflation 

7.25%  

Discount rate  7.25%  
Post-retirement benefit increases: 

PERA benefit structure hired prior to 1/1/07; and 
DPS benefit structure (automatic) 

 1.00% compounded 
annually 

PERA benefit structure hired after 12/31/06 Financed by the 
Annual Increase Reserve (AIR) 

 
The mortality tables described below are generational mortality tables developed on a benefit-
weighted basis.  
 
Pre-retirement mortality assumptions for members were based upon the PubG-2010 Employee Table 
with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

 
Post-retirement non-disabled retiree mortality rates are based upon the PubG-2010 Healthy Retiree 
table with adjustments for credibility and gender, adjusted as follows: 
 

• Males: 94% of the rates prior to age 80 and 90% of the rates for ages 80 and older, projected 
generationally using the MP-2019 projection scale. 

 
• Females: 87% of the rates prior to age 80 and 107% of the rates for ages 80 and older, with 

generational projection using scale MP-2019. 
 

The mortality assumption for disabled retirees was based on 99% of the MP-2019 Disabled Retiree 
Mortality Table. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020, valuation were based on the results of the 
2020 experience analysis for the period January 1, 2016, through December 31, 2019. Revised 
economic and demographic assumptions were adopted by PERA's Board on November 20, 2020. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

23 

Based on the 2020 experience analysis, dated October 28, 2020, for the period January 1, 2016, 
through December 31, 2019, revised economic and demographic assumptions were adopted by 
PERA's Board on November 20, 2020, and were effective as of December 31, 2020. The 
assumptions shown below were reflected in the roll forward calculation of the total pension liability 
(asset) from December 31, 2019, to December 31, 2020. 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age  
Price inflation  2.30%  
Real wage growth  0.70%  
Wage inflation  3.00%  
Salary increases, including wage inflation   

Member other than State Troopers 3.20 – 11.30% 
State Troopers1 3.20 – 12.40% 

Long-term investment rate of return, net of       
pension plan investment expenses, including price 
inflation 

7.25%  

Discount rate  7.25%  
Post-retirement benefit increases: 

PERA benefit structure hired prior to 1/1/07;   
and DPS benefit structure (automatic) 

 1.25  
 

PERA benefit structure hired after 12/31/061 Financed by the AIR 
 
1C.R.S. § 24-51-101 (46), as amended, expanded the definition of “State Troopers” to include certain employees 
within the LGDTF, effective January 1, 2020. See Note 4 of the Notes to the Financial Statements in PERA's 
2020 Annual Report for more information. 
 
2 Post-retirement benefit increases are provided by the AIR, accounted separately within each Division Trust 
Fund, and subject to moneys being available; therefore, liabilities related to increases for members of these 
benefit tiers can never exceed available assets. 
 
Salary scale assumptions were revised to align with revised economic assumptions and to more 
closely reflect actual experience. 
 
Rates of termination/withdrawal, retirement and disability were revised to more closely reflect actual 
experience. 
 
Pre-retirement mortality assumptions were based upon the PubG-2010 Employee Table with 
generational projection using scale MP-2019. 
 
 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

24 

Post-retirement non-disabled mortality assumptions for Members were based upon the PubG-2010 
Healthy Retiree Table, adjusted as follows: 
 

• Males: 94% of the rates prior to age 80 and 90% of the rates for ages 80 and older, with 
generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

 
• Females: 87% of the rates prior to age 80 and 107% of the rates for ages 80 and older, with 

generational projection using scale MP-2019. 
 
Post-retirement non-disabled beneficiary mortality assumptions were based upon the Pub-2010 
Contingent Survivor Table, adjusted as follows: 
 

• Males: 97% of the rates for all ages, with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 
 

• Females: 105% of the rates for all ages, with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 
 
Disabled mortality assumptions were based upon the PubNS-2010 Disabled Retiree Table using 99% 
of the rates for all ages with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

 
The mortality tables described above are generational mortality tables on a benefit-weighted basis. 

 
The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of regular experience studies 
prepared every four to five years for PERA. Recently this assumption has been reviewed more 
frequently. The most recent analyses were outlined in the Experience Study report dated October 28, 
2021.  
 
Several factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption, including long-
term historical data, estimates inherent in current market data and a log-normal distribution analysis 
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net of 
investment expense and inflation) were developed for each major asset class. These ranges were 
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return by the target asset allocation percentages and then adding expected inflation. 
 
PERA’s Board first adopted the 7.25% long-term expected rate of return as of November 18, 2016. 
Following an asset/liability study, PERA’s Board reaffirmed the assumed rate of return at the PERA 
Board's November 15, 2019, meeting, to be effective January 1, 2020. As of the most recent 
reaffirmation of the long-term rate of return, the target asset allocation and best estimates of 
geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the table as follows: 
 

 
Asset Class 

 Target 
Allocation 

 30 Year Expected Geometric Real 
Rate of Return 

     
Global Equity  54.00%  5.60% 
Fixed Income  23.00   1.30 
Private Equity  8.50   7.10 
Real Estate  8.50   4.40 
Alternatives  6.00   4.70 

     
Total  100.00   

 
In setting the long-term expected rate of return, projections employed to model future returns provide 
a range of expected long-term returns that, including expected inflation, ultimately support a long-term 
expected nominal rate of return assumption of 7.25%. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

25 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability (asset) was 7.25%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate applied the actuarial cost method and assumptions 
shown above. In addition, the following methods and assumptions were used in the projection of cash 
flows: 
 

• Total covered payroll for the initial projection year consists of the covered payroll of the active 
membership present on the valuation date and the covered payroll of future plan members 
assumed to be hired during the year. In subsequent projection years, total covered payroll 
was assumed to increase annually at a rate of 3.00%. 

 
• Employee contributions were assumed to be made at the member contribution rates in effect 

for each year, including the required adjustment resulting from the 2018 automatic 
adjustment provision assessment, and the additional 0.50%, resulting from the 2020 
automatic adjustment provision assessment, statutorily recognized July 1, 2021, and effective 
July 1, 2022. Employee contributions for future plan members were used to reduce the 
estimated amount of total service cost for future plan members.  

 
• Employer contributions were assumed to be made at rates equal to the fixed statutory rates 

specified in law for each year, including the required adjustments resulting from the 2018 
automatic adjustment provision assessment, and additional 0.50%, resulting from 2020 
automatic adjustment provision assessment, statutorily recognized July 1, 2021, and effective 
July 1, 2022. Employer contributions also include current and estimated future amortization 
equalization disbursement and supplemental amortization equalization disbursement, until 
the actuarial value funding ratio reaches 103%, at which point the amortization equalization 
disbursement and supplemental amortization equalization disbursement will each drop 0.50% 
every year until they are zero. Additionally, estimated employer contributions reflect 
reductions for the funding of the annual increase reserve and retiree health care benefits. For 
future plan members, employer contributions were further reduced by the estimated amount 
of total service costs for future plan members not financed by their member contributions. 

 
• Employer contributions and the amount of total service costs for future plan members were 

based upon a process to estimate future actuarially determined contributions assuming an 
analogous future plan member growth rate. 

 
• The annual increase reserve balance was excluded from the initial fiduciary net position 

(FNP), as, per statute, annual increase reserve amounts cannot be used to pay benefits until 
transferred to either the retirement benefits reserve or the survivor benefits reserve, as 
appropriate. Annual increase reserve transfers to the FNP and the subsequent annual 
increase reserve benefit payments were estimated and included in the projections. 

 
• The projected benefit payments reflect the lower annual increase cap, from 1.25 to 1.00% 

resulting from 2020 AAP assessment, statutorily recognized July 1, 2021, and effective  
July 1, 2022. 

 
• Benefit payments and contributions were assumed to be made at the middle of the year. 

 
Based on the above assumptions and methods, LGDTF's FNP was projected to be available to make 
all projected future benefit payments of current members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of 
return of 7.25% on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments 
to determine the total pension liability (asset). The discount rate determination does not use the 
municipal bond index rate, and therefore, the discount rate is 7.25%. There was no change in the 
discount rate from the prior measurement date. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

26 

Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes 
in the Discount Rate 

The following table presents the proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what the proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.25%) or 
1-percentage-point higher (8.25%) than the current rate: 

  2022 

  
1% Decrease 

(6.25%)  

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.25%)  
1% Increase 

(8.25%) 
Authority's proportionate share of the net 

pension liability (asset)  $ 1,518,418  $ (221,454)  $ (1,676,780) 
          
  2021 

  
1% Decrease 

(6.25%)  

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.25%)  
1% Increase 

(8.25%) 
Authority's proportionate share of the net 

pension liability (asset)  $ 2,750,981  $ 1,194,209  $ (105,493) 
 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the LGDTF’s fiduciary net position is available in PERA’s annual 
comprehensive financial report which can be obtained at www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-
reports. 

 
5. Other Post-Employment Benefits 

Plan Description 

Eligible employees of the Authority are provided with OPEB through the Health Care Trust Fund 
(HCTF) - a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by PERA. The 
HCTF is established under Title 24, Article 51, Part 12 of the Colorado Revised Statutes, as 
amended. Colorado State law provisions may be amended from time to time by the Colorado General 
Assembly. Title 24, Article 51, Part 12 of the C.R.S., as amended, sets forth a framework that grants 
authority to the PERA Board to contract, self-insure, and authorize disbursements necessary in order 
to carry out the purposes of the PERA Care program, including the administration of the premium 
subsidies. Colorado State law provisions may be amended from time to time by the Colorado General 
Assembly. PERA issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that can be 
obtained at: www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports. 

Benefits Provided 

The HCTF provides a health care premium subsidy to eligible participating PERA benefit recipients 
and retirees who choose to enroll in one of the PERA health care plans, however, the subsidy is not 
available if only enrolled in the dental and/or vision plan(s). The health care premium subsidy is 
based upon the benefit structure under which the member retires and the member’s years of service 
credit. For members who retire having service credit with employers in the Denver Public Schools 
Division and one or more of the other four Divisions (State, School, Local Government and Judicial), 
the premium subsidy is allocated between the HCTF and the Denver Public Schools Health Care 
Trust Fund (DPS HCTF). The basis for the amount of the premium subsidy funded by each trust fund 
is the percentage of the member contribution account balance from each division as it relates to the 
total member contribution account balance from which the retirement benefit is paid. 

http://www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports


Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

27 

C.R.S. § 24-51-1202 et seq. specifies the eligibility for enrollment in the health care plans offered by 
PERA and the amount of the premium subsidy. The law governing a benefit recipient’s eligibility for 
the subsidy and the amount of the subsidy differs slightly depending under which benefit structure the 
benefits are calculated. All benefit recipients under the PERA benefit structure and all retirees under 
the DPS benefit structure are eligible for a premium subsidy, if enrolled in a health care plan under 
PERACare. Upon the death of a DPS benefit structure retiree, no further subsidy is paid. 

Enrollment in the PERACare is voluntary and is available to benefit recipients and their eligible 
dependents, certain surviving spouses and divorced spouses and guardians, among others. Eligible 
benefit recipients may enroll into the program upon retirement, upon the occurrence of certain life 
events, or on an annual basis during an open enrollment period. 

PERA Benefit Structure 

The maximum service-based premium subsidy is $230 per month for benefit recipients who are under 
65 years of age and who are not entitled to Medicare; the maximum service-based subsidy is $115 
per month for benefit recipients who are 65 years of age or older or who are under 65 years of age 
and entitled to Medicare. The basis for the maximum service-based subsidy, in each case, is for 
benefit recipients with retirement benefits based on 20 or more years of service credit. There is a 5% 
reduction in the subsidy for each year less than 20. The benefit recipient pays the remaining portion 
of the premium to the extent the subsidy does not cover the entire amount. 

For benefit recipients who have not participated in Social Security and who are not otherwise eligible 
for premium-free Medicare Part A for hospital-related services, C.R.S. § 24-51-1206(4) provides an 
additional subsidy. According to the statute, PERA cannot charge premiums to benefit recipients 
without Medicare Part A that are greater than premiums charged to benefit recipients with Part A for 
the same plan option, coverage level and service credit. Currently, for each individual PERACare 
enrollee, the total premium for Medicare coverage is determined assuming plan participants have 
both Medicare Part A and Part B and the difference in premium cost is paid by the HCTF or the DPS 
HCTF on behalf of benefit recipients not covered by Medicare Part A. 

Contributions 

Pursuant to Title 24, Article 51, Section 208(1) (f) of the C.R.S., as amended, certain contributions are 
apportioned to the HCTF. PERA-affiliated employers of the State, School, Local Government and 
Judicial Divisions are required to contribute at a rate of 1.02% of PERA-includable salary into the 
HCTF. 

Employer contributions are recognized by the HCTF in the period in which the compensation 
becomes payable to the member and the Authority is statutorily committed to pay the contributions. 
Employer contributions recognized by the HCTF from the Authority were $20,365 and $20,562 for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to OPEB 

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Authority reported a liability of $172,901 and $166,146, 
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability for the HCTF 
was measured as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the 
net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
Standard update procedures were used to roll-forward the total OPEB liability to December 31, 2021 
and 2020. The Authority’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on the Authority’s 
contributions to the HCTF for the calendar year 2021 and 2020 relative to the total contributions of 
participating employers to the HCTF. 

At December 31, 2022, the Authority’s proportion was 0.020051%, which was an increase of 
0.002566 from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2021. 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

28 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 the Authority recognized OPEB expense of ($175) 
and $2,354, respectively. At December 31, 2020, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

  

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources  

Deferred  
Inflows of 
Resources 

       
Differences between expected and actual experience   $ 263  $ 40,997 
Changes of assumptions or other inputs   3,580   9,379 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 

OPEB plan investments   
- 

  
10,703 

Changes in proportion and differences between contributions 
recognized and proportionate share of contributions   

24,409 
  

- 

Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date   20,365   - 
       

Total   $ 48,617  $ 61,079 
 

The $20,365 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB, resulting from contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in 
the year ending December 31, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

   Amortization 
Years ending December 31,    

2022  $ (10,911) 
2023   (12,334) 
2024   (11,695) 
2025   (2,247) 
2026   3,648 
Thereafter   712 

    
  $ (32,827) 

 
At December 31, 2021, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

  

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources  

Deferred  
Inflows of 
Resources 

       
Differences between expected and actual experience   $ 441  $ 36,527 
Changes of assumptions or other inputs   1,241   10,188 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 

OPEB plan investments   
- 

  
6,789 

Changes in proportion and differences between contributions 
recognized and proportionate share of contributions   

- 
  

6,668 

Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date   20,562   - 
       

Total   $ 22,244  $ 60,172 
 
  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

29 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial cost method, actuarial assumptions and other inputs: 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age  
Price inflation  2.30%  
Real wage growth  0.70%  
Wage inflation  
Salary increases, including wage inflation 

3.00%  
3.20 – 11.30% 

Long-term investment rate of return, net of       
OPEB plan investment expenses, including price 
inflation 

7.25%  

Discount rate  7.25%  
Health care cost trend rates  
PERA benefit structure:  

Service-based premium subsidy 0.00% 
PERACare Medical Plans 4.50% in 2021, 6.00% in 2022, gradually 

decreasing to 4.50% in 2029 
Medicare Part A premiums 3.75% in 2021, gradually increasing to 4.50%       

in 2029 
 

In determining the additional liability for PERACare enrollees who are age 65 or older and who are 
not eligible for premium-free Medicare Part A in the following monthly costs/premiums are assumed 
for 2021 for the PERA Benefit Structure: 

  Initial Costs for Members Without Medicare Part A 

Medicare Plan  Monthly Cost  
Monthly 
Premium  

Monthly Cost 
Adjusted to  

Age 65 
 

Medicare Advantage/Self-Insured RX  $ 630  $ 230  $ 591 
Kaiser Premanente Medicare Advantage 

HMO   596   199   562 
 

The 2021 Medicare Part A premium is $471 (actual dollars) per month. 

All costs are subject to the health care cost trend rates, as discussed below. 

Health care cost trend rates reflect the change in per capita health costs over time due to factors such 
as medical inflation, utilization, plan design and technology improvements. For the PERA benefit 
structure, health care cost trend rates are needed to project the future costs associated with providing 
benefits to those PERACare enrollees not eligible for premium-free Medicare Part A. 

Health care cost trend rates for the PERA benefit structure are based on published annual health 
care inflation surveys in conjunction with actual plan experience (if credible), building block models 
and industry methods developed by health plan actuaries and administrators. In addition, projected 
trends for the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund (Medicare Part A premiums) provided by the 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services are referenced in the development of these rates. Effective  
December 31, 2020, the health care cost trend rates for Medicare Part A premiums were revised to 
reflect the current expectation of future increases in rates of inflation applicable to Medicare Part A 
premiums 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

30 

The PERA benefit structure health care cost trend rates used to measure the total OPEB liability are 
summarized in the table below: 

 
Year 

 PERACare 
Medicare Plans 

 Medicare Part A 
Premiums 

     
2021  4.50%  3.75% 
2022  6.00%  3.75% 
2023  5.80%  4.00% 
2024  5.60%  4.00% 
2025  5.40%  4.00% 
2026  5.10%  4.25% 
2027  4.90%  4.25% 
2028  4.70%  4.25% 
2029+  4.50%  4.50% 

 
Mortality assumptions used in the December 31, 2020 valuation for the State, School Division, Local 
Government Division and Judicial Divisions HCTF as shown below, reflect generational mortality and 
were applied, as applicable, in the December 31, 2020, valuation for the HCTF, but developed on a 
headcount-weighted basis. Affiliated employers of these Division Trust Funds participate in the HCTF. 

Pre-retirement mortality assumptions for the State and Local Government Divisions were based upon 
the PubG-2010 Employee Table with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

Post-retirement non-disabled mortality assumptions for the State and Local Government Divisions 
were based upon the PubG-2010 Healthy Retiree Table, adjusted as follows: 

• Males: 94% of the rates prior to age 80 and 90% of the rates for ages 80 and older, with 
generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

• Females: 87% of the rates prior to age 80 and 107% of the rates for ages 80 and older, with 
generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

 
Post-retirement non-disabled beneficiary mortality assumptions were based upon the Pub-2010 
Contingent Survivor Table, adjusted as follows: 

• Males: 97% of the rates for all ages, with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

• Females: 105% of the rates for all ages, with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

Disabled mortality assumptions for Members were based upon the PubNS-2010 Disabled Retiree Table 
using 99% of the rates for all ages with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

31 

The following health care costs assumptions were updated and used in the roll forward calculation for 
the HCTF: 

• Initial per capita health care costs for those PERACare enrollees under the PERA benefit 
structure who are expected to attain age 65 and older ages and are not eligible for premium-
free Medicare Part A benefits were updated to reflect the change in costs for the 2021 plan 
year. 

• The health care cost trend rates for Medicare Part A premiums were revised to reflect the 
then-current expectation of future increases in rates of inflation applicable to Medicare Part A 
premiums. 

Actuarial assumptions pertaining to per capita health care costs and their related trend rates are 
analyzed and updated annually by PERA Board’s actuary, as discussed above. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020, valuation were based on the results of the 
2020 experience analysis for the period January 1, 2016, through December 31, 2019, and were 
reviewed and adopted by the PERA Board at their November 20, 2020 meeting. 

The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of regular experience studies 
prepared every four to five years for PERA. Recently this assumption has been reviewed more 
frequently. The most recent analyses were outlined in the Experience Study report dated October 28, 
2020.  

Several factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption, including long-
term historical data, estimates inherent in current market data and a log-normal distribution analysis 
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net of 
investment expense and inflation) were developed for each major asset class. These ranges were 
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return by the target asset allocation percentages and then adding expected inflation. 

As of the most recent reaffirmation of the long-term rate of return, the target asset allocation and best 
estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the table as 
follows: 

 
 

Asset Class 

  
Target 

Allocation 

 30 Year Expected 
Geometric Real 
Rate of Return 

     
Global Equity  54.0%  5.6% 
Fixed Income  23.0  1.3 
Private Equity  8.5  7.1 
Real Estate  8.5  4.4 
Alternatives  6.0  4.7 

     
Total  100.00%   

 
In setting the long-term expected rate of return, projections employed to model future returns provide 
a range of expected long-term returns that, including expected inflation, ultimately support a long-term 
expected nominal rate of return assumption of 7.25%. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

32 

Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the 
Health Care Cost Trend Rates 

The following presents the net OPEB liability using the current health care cost trend rates applicable 
to the PERA benefit structure, as well as if it were calculated using health care cost trend rates that 
are one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rates: 

 
2022 

 
1% 

Decrease 

  
Current 

Trend Rates 

  
1% 

 Increase 
      
Initial PERACare Medicare trend rate 3.50%  %  5.50% 
Ultimate PERACare Medicare trend rate 3.50%  %  5.50% 
Initial Medicare Part A trend rate 2.75%  %  4.75% 
Ulitimate Medicare Part A trend rate 3.50%  %  5.50% 
Net OPEB Liability $           167,935  $       172,901  $ 178,653 

 
     

 

 
2021 

 
1% 

Decrease 

  
Current 

Trend Rates 

  
1%  

Increase 
      
Initial PERACare Medicare trend rate 7.10%  8.10%  9.10% 
Ultimate PERACare Medicare trend rate 3.50%  4.50%  5.50% 
Initial Medicare Part A trend rate 2.50%  3.50%  4.50% 
Ultimate Medicare Part A trend rate 3.50%  4.50%  5.50% 
Net OPEB Liability $ 161,851  $166,146  $ 171,145 

 
Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 7.25%. The basis for the projection of 
liabilities and the FNP used to determine the discount rate was an actuarial valuation performed as of 
December 31, 2020, and the financial status of the HCTF as of the prior measurement date 
(December 31, 2020). In addition, the following methods and assumptions were used in the projection 
of cash flows: 

• Updated health care cost trend rates for Medicare Part A premiums as of the December 31, 
2021 and 2020, measurement dates. 

• Total covered payroll for the initial projection year consists of the covered payroll of the active 
membership present on the valuation date and the covered payroll of future plan members 
assumed to be hired during the year. In subsequent projection years, total covered payroll 
was assumed to increase annually at a rate of 3.00%. 

• Employer contributions were assumed to be made at rates equal to the fixed statutory rates 
specified in law and effective as of the measurement date. 

• Employer contributions and the amount of total service costs for future plan members were 
based upon a process to estimate future actuarially determined contributions assuming an 
analogous future plan member growth rate. 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

33 

• Estimated transfers of dollars into the HCTF representing a portion of purchase service 
agreements intended to cover the costs associated with OPEB benefits. 

• Benefit payments and contributions were assumed to be made at the middle of the year. 

Based on the above assumptions and methods, the projection test indicates the HCTF’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to make all projected future benefit payments of current members. Therefore, 
the long-term expected rate of return of 7.25% on OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods 
of projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB liability. The discount rate determination 
does not use the municipal bond index rate, and therefore, the discount rate is 7.25%. These was no 
change in the discount rate from the prior measurement date. 

Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate 

The following presents the proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the discount 
rate of 7.25%, as well as what the proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher 
than the current rate: 

  2022 

  
1% Decrease 

(6.25%)  

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.25%)  
1% Increase 

(8.25%) 
Authority's proportionate share of the net 

OPEB liability  $ 200,806  $ 172,901  $ 149,065 
 

  2021 

  
1% Decrease 

(6.25%)  

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.25%)  
1% Increase 

(8.25%) 
Authority's proportionate share of the net 

OPEB liability  $ 190,323  $ 166,146  $ 145,488 
 

Detailed information about the HCTF�s fiduciary net position is available in PERA’s annual 
comprehensive financial report which can be obtained at www.copera.org/investments/ pera-financial-
reports. 

 
6. Voluntary Investment Program 

Plan Description 

Employees of the Authority that are also members of the LGDTF may voluntarily contribute to the 
Voluntary Investment Program, an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) defined contribution plan 
administered by PERA. Title 24, Article 51, Part 14 of the C.R.S., as amended, assigns the authority 
to establish the Plan provisions to the PERA Board of Trustees. PERA issues a publicly available 
CAFR which includes additional information on the Voluntary Investment Program. That report can be 
obtained at www.copera.org/ investments/pera-financial-reports. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

34 

Funding Policy 

The Voluntary Investment Program is funded by voluntary member contributions up to the maximum 
limits set by the Internal Revenue Service, as established under Title 24, Article 51, Section 1402 of 
the CRS, as amended. In addition, the Authority has agreed to match employee contributions up to 
3% of covered salary as determined by the Internal Revenue Service. Employees are immediately 
vested in their own contributions, employer contributions and investment earnings. For the year 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 program members contributed $53,171 and $23,577 and the 
Authority recognized pension expense of $14,145 and $8,742, respectively, for the Voluntary 
Investment Program. 

 
7.  Risk Management  
 

The Authority is exposed to various risk of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. 

The Authority is a member of the Colorado Special District Property and Liability Pool (CSDPLP). The 
Authority has joined together with other special districts in the State of Colorado. This is a public entity 
risk pool currently operating as a common risk management and insurance program for members. The 
Authority pays annual contributions for its property and casualty insurance coverage. The 
intergovernmental agreement provides that the pool will be financially self-sustaining through member 
contributions and additional assessments, if necessary, and the pool will purchase excess insurance 
through commercial companies for members� claims in excess of specified self-insurance retention. 

At December 31, 2021 (the most current audited financial statements) CSDPLP has total admitted assets 
of $68,195,261, liabilities of $46,165,251 and unassigned surplus of $22,030,010. The liability amount 
includes no long-term debt. Total revenue for 2021 amounted to $24,889,624, investment income of 
$482,027 and total expenses were $25,123,490 resulting in a net income of $248,161. The amount of the 
District’s share of these amounts is less than 1%. 

 
8. Commitments and Contingencies  

Self- Insurance 

The Authority is self-insured for property and liability insurance. As discussed in Note 7, the Authority 
is a member of the CSDPLP. The CSDPLP has a legal obligation for claims against its members to 
the extent that funds are available in its annually established loss fund and amounts are available 
from insurance providers under excess specific and aggregate insurance contracts. Losses incurred 
in excess of loss funds and amounts recoverable from excess insurance are direct liabilities of the 
participating members. CSDPLP has indicated that the amount of any excess losses would be billed 
to members in proportion to their contributions in the year such excess occurs. 

No current claims are expected to be settled in a manner which would adversely affect the Authority. 

 
9. Related-Party Transactions 

As described in Note 1, the Authority has granted water treatment capacity to the Districts. Substantially 
all of the revenue of the Authority is derived from the Districts. Therefore, the Authority’s operations are 
economically dependent on the continued utilization of the Authority’s facilities by the Districts. 

  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

35 

The following revenues were billed to the Districts and the following amounts were owed from the Districts 
to the Authority: 

December 31,   2022  2021 
Operating Revenues:       
Fort Collins/Loveland Water District   $ 1,781,119  $ 1,699,570 
East Larimer County Water District    1,006,067   1,087,883 
North Weld County Water District   1,814,061   1,774,240 

       
Total operating revenues  $ 4,601,247  $ 4,561,693 

 
December 31,   2022  2021 
Receivables, Participants:       
Fort Collins/Loveland Water District   $ 218,977  $ 638,308 
East Larimer County Water District    132,754   242,145 
North Weld County Water District   228,037   654,831 

       
Total receivables, participants  $ 579,768  $ 1,535,284 

 
 
10.  TABOR Compliance 

In November 1992, Colorado voters passed an amendment (TABOR or the Amendment) to the State 
Constitution (Article X, Section 20) which limits the revenue raising and spending abilities of state and 
local governments. The limits on property taxes, revenue and "fiscal year spending" include allowable 
annual increases tied to inflation and local growth in construction valuation. Fiscal year spending, as 
defined by the Amendment, excludes spending from certain revenue and financing sources such as 
federal funds, gifts, property sales, fund transfers, damage awards and fund reserves (balances). The 
Amendment requires voter approval for any increase in mill levy or tax rates, new taxes or creation of 
multi-year debt. Revenue earned in excess of the “spending limit” must be refunded or approved to be 
retained by the Authority under specified voting requirements by the entire electorate. 

The Authority believes it is in compliance with the provisions of TABOR. However, TABOR is complex 
and subject to interpretation. Many of its provisions will require judicial interpretation. 

 
11. Subsequent Events 

The Authority evaluated subsequent events through April __, 2023 the date these financial statements 
were available to be issued. There were no material subsequent events that required recognition or 
additional disclosure. 

 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

  



December 31, 2022

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Authority's proportion of the net
 pension liability 0.25829% 0.22916% 0.22676% 0.23174% 0.22899% 0.22465%

Authority's proportionate share of the 
net pension liability  $         (221,454)  $      1,194,209  $       1,658,503  $       2,913,453  $        2,549,690  $        3,033,489 

Authority's covered payroll  $       2,015,927  $      1,712,369  $       1,555,242  $       1,521,621  $        1,329,979  $        1,306,741 

Authority's proportionate share of the net 
pension liability as a percentage of its 
covered payroll 10.99% 69.74% 106.64% 191.47% 191.71% 232.14%

Plan fiduciary net position 
as a percentage of the total pension 101.49% 90.88% 86.30% 75.96% 79.37% 73.60%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of 12/31 of the prior year.

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority
Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)*

However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is available.
These schedules are presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years.

36



December 31, 2022

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Statutorily Required Contribution  $          260,906  $         255,620  $          217,128  $        197,205  $          192,942  $         168,641 

Contributions in Relation to the
 Statutorily Required Contribution 260,906 255,620 217,128 197,205 192,942 168,641

Contribution Deficiency (Excess)  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Covered Payroll           1,996,564          2,015,927           1,712,369         1,555,242           1,521,621          1,329,979 

Contributions as a Percentage of 
Covered Payroll 13.07% 12.68% 12.68% 12.68% 12.68% 12.68%

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Pension*

These schedules are presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is 
compiled, information is presented for those years for which information is available.

37



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

December 31, 2022

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Authority's proportion of the net 
OPEB liability 0.02005% 0.01748% 0.01737% 0.01797% 0.01779% 0.01724%

Authority's proportionate share of the
 net OPEB liability  $   172,901  $   166,146  $   195,206  $   244,508  $    231,250  $   208,847 

Authority's covered payroll    2,015,927    1,712,369    1,555,242    1,521,621     1,329,979    1,306,741 

Authority's proportionate share of the
net OPEB liability as a percentage
of its covered payroll 8.58% 9.70% 12.55% 16.07% 17.39% 15.98%

Plan fiduciary net position as a 
percentage of the total OPEB liability 39.40% 32.78% 24.49% 17.03% 17.53% 16.72%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of 12/31 of the prior year.

These schedules are presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information is 
presented for those years for which information is available.

Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability*

38



2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Statutorily Required
 Contribution  $      20,365  $      20,562  $      17,466  $      15,863  $      15,521  $      13,566 

Contributuons in relation
to the Stautorily Required
Contribution          20,365          20,562          17,466          15,863          15,521          13,566 

Contribution Deficiency
(Excess)                    -  -  -  -  -  - 

Covered Payroll  $ 1,996,564  $ 2,015,927  $ 1,712,369  $ 1,555,242  $ 1,521,621  $ 1,329,979 

Contributions as a Percentage
 of Covered Payroll 1.02% 1.02% 1.02% 1.02% 1.02% 1.02%

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

December 31, 2022

These schedules are presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information is 
presented for those years for which information is available.

Schedule of Authority Contributions - OPEB*

39



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 



2022 2021

Revenues and Contributions
Operating revenues:
North Weld County Water District 1,837,358$     1,837,358$     1,814,061$     (23,297)$         1,774,240$     
Fort Collins-Loveland Water District 1,795,741       1,795,741 1,781,119       (14,622)           1,699,570       
East Larimer County Water District 1,008,707       1,008,707 1,006,067       (2,640)             1,087,883       

Total operating revenues 4,641,806       4,641,806 4,601,247       (40,559)           4,561,693       

Nonoperating revenue:
Contributions from participants 1,770,734       1,770,734 1,770,732       (2)                    9,765,862       
Earnings on investments 234                 234 20,574            20,340            844                 
Miscellaneous income -                      -                      55,387            55,387            5,360              

Total nonoperating
 revenues 1,770,968       1,770,968 1,846,693       75,725            9,772,066       

Total revenues 6,412,774       6,412,774 6,447,940       35,166            14,333,759     

Expenditures
Operating and maintenance:

Personnel 2,081,189       2,081,189 1,971,282       (109,907)         2,150,014       
Employee benefits 719,315          719,315 (115,105)         (834,420)         307,011          
Unemployment taxes 6,099              6,099 3,993              (2,106)             7,855              
Payroll taxes 29,477            29,477 28,474            (1,003)             28,811            
Source of supply 66,000            66,000 57,016            (8,984)             74,179            
Chemicals 980,600          980,600 1,069,205       88,605            850,363          
Supplies 88,710            88,710 100,840          12,130            102,490          
Repairs 434,651          434,651 142,246          (292,405)         177,469          
Telephone 10,410            10,410 12,380            1,970              17,163            
Utilities, gas and electric 76,686            76,686 144,563          67,877            103,178          
Miscellaneous -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Water resources 103,996          103,996 240,468          136,472          155,301          
Watershed expenses 41,321            41,321 14,223            (27,098)           17,724            

Total operating
 and maintenance 4,638,454       4,638,454 3,669,585       (968,869)         3,991,558       

Administration and General
Insurance 100,000          100,000 167,582          67,582            78,642            
Office supplies 33,372            33,372 23,460            (9,912)             27,294            
Outside services 151,304          151,304 90,719            (60,585)           203,509          
Publications 11,241            11,241 6,875              (4,366)             11,058            
Directors' expenses 3,296              3,296 11,697            8,401              8,181              

Total administration 299,213          299,213 300,333          1,120              328,684          

Schedules of Revenues and Expenses - Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) (With Summarized Prior Year Information)
Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

Years Ended December 31. 2022 and 2021

Budgeted 
Amounts 
Original

Budgeted 
Amounts Final

Actual Amounts 
Budget Bassis

Variances With 
Final Budget 

Positive 
(Negative)

Actual Amounts 
Budget Bassis

40



Other
Capital asset acquisitions  $                       -  $                   - -$                    -$                    9,927,096$     

Total other -                      -                      -                      -                      9,927,096       

Total expenditures 4,937,667 4,937,667 3,969,918       (967,749)         14,247,338     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures            1,475,107            1,475,107 2,478,022       (932,583)$       86,421            

Reconciling Items
Capital asset acquisitions -                      9,927,096       
Depreciation (3,037,842)      (890,327)         

Change in net position (559,820)         9,123,190       

Net Position, Beginning 64,508,420     55,385,230     

Net position, Ending 63,948,600$   64,508,420$   

Schedules of Revenues and Expenses - Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) (With Summarized Prior Year Information)
Years Ended December 31. 2022 and 2021

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

Budgeted 
Amounts 
Original

Budgeted 
Amounts Final

Actula Amounts 
Budget Bassis

Variances With 
Final Budget 

Positive 
(Negative)

Actual Amounts 
Budget Bassis

41



SOLDIER CANYON WATER 
TREATMENTAUTHORITY 

1 | P a g e  

 

To: Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Board 

From: Mark Kempton, P.E., CWP 

Date: May 11, 2023 

Re: Proposed amendment to Authority Creation Agreement to include ownership of 
the Pleasant Valley Pipeline (PVP), Sed Basin, Screen and Horsetooth facilities 

 
Table 1: Tenta�ve Ownership in the PVP (Source: Interim PVP Agreement Capital Costs - June 
1999 Soldier Canyon Filter Plant Steering Commitee Mee�ng Minutes) 

 
Fort Collins 

Capacity in the PVP - in % and MGD 
ELCO FCLWD NWCWD 

50% - 60 MGD 11.87%/14.25 
MGD 

19.38%/23.26 
MGD 

18.74%/22.49 
MGD 

 
Table 2: Proposed Capacity in  the PVP Sed Basin(Source: Fort Collins IGA based on PVP flows) 

 
Fort Collins 

Capacity in  the PVP Sed Basin – in % 
ELCO FCLWD NWCWD 

53% 11% 18% 18% 
 
Table 3: Proposed Capacity in the PVP Screen (Source: Based on 50/50 PVP ownership and %s 
in Table 2 - Fort Collins IGA) 

 
Fort Collins 

Capacity in the PVP Screen – in % 
ELCO FCLWD NWCWD 

50% 11.6% 19.2% 19.2% 
 
 
Table 4 is for Reference and comparison purposes only. 
 
Table 4: Authority Ownership (Source: 2017 Authority Crea�on Agreement) 

 
 

Authority Ownership - in %  
ELCO FCLWD NWCWD  

22.865% 38.405% 38.73% 
50% for 

comparison to 
numbers above 

11.43% 19.2% 19.37% 

 
 



2 

Tables 5 and 6 are for exis�ng executed agreements with the individual Districts and have been 
requested to be included in the Crea�on Agreement for reference only.  
 
Table 5: Northern Water 57-inch Horsetooth Outlet Pipe Capaci�es (Source: 1977 
Agreement/w individual Districts and Northern Water) 

 
 

Capacity in the HT Outlet Line - MGD 
ELCO FCLWD NWCWD  

35 MGD 9.1 MGD 16.4 MGD 
 
Table 6: Horsetooth Outlet Project Pump Sta�on – 35.3 MGD maximum capacity (Source: 
April 2020 Agreement/w individual Districts and Fort Collins) 

 
Fort Collins 

Capacity in the HOP Pump Sta�on – in % and MGD 
ELCO FCLWD NWCWD 

43.3%/15.3 MGD 8.5%/3 MGD 14.2%/5 MGD 34%/12 MGD 
 
 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority - Treatment Capacity Share
July 2022
District Capacity Allocation (MGD) Treatment Capacity Share (%)
ELCO 13.719 22.865%

Fort Collins - Loveland 23.043 38.405%

North Weld County 23.238 38.730%

TOTAL 60.000 MGD 100.000%


